
A
M

TE Pow
er plc 

A
nnual report and accounts 2021

AMTE Power plc
Annual report and accounts 2021

Powering a cleaner future



Artist’s impression of AMTE Power gigafactory with 10GWh capacity.



 For a cleaner 
future
Contents

Strategic report
2  Highlights of the year
3  Outlook
4  Business model
5 AMTE Power at a glance
6  Chair’s statement
7  Strategy at a glance
8  CEO’s review
12  Strategic pillars
14  Sustainability
18  Product and market review
22 Risk management and principal risks
24  Financial review

1

Find out more online:
amtepower.com/investors

Governance
26  Board of Directors
27  Directors’ interests and their remuneration
30  Corporate governance report
34  Audit & Risk Committee report
36  Remuneration Committee report 
37  Directors’ report
40  Section 172 statement
41  Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

2 Financial statements
42 Independent auditor’s report to the members
47  Group statement of comprehensive income
48  Group statement of financial position
50  Company statement of financial position
52  Group statement of changes in equity
53  Company statement of changes in equity
54  Group statement of cash flows
55  Note to the statement of cash flows
56  Notes to the Group financial statements

Other information
97 Group information
97  Regulatory news announcements

3

4

1AMTE Power plc | Annual report and accounts 2021

1 2 3 4Strategic report | Contents



Strategic report | Highlights of the year

A successful year creating a strong platform for product commercialisation

Financial highlights
 @ UK and European grants plus income from 

commercial partners led to turnover increasing  
to £2.0m (2020: £1.3m).

 @ Completed a successful IPO with admission to  
AIM on 12 March 2021 alongside an oversubscribed 
placing to new and existing shareholders raising 
gross proceeds to the Group of £12.9m.

 @ Additional funds have enabled the acceleration 
of investment into key people, acceleration of the 
first phases of product development and further 
support towards the establishment of an AMTE 
Power Gigafactory.

 @ Loss after tax for the period £3.7m (2020: (£1.9m)).

 @ Cash and cash equivalents as at 30 June 2021 
of £9.3m (2020: £1.0m).

Operational and strategic highlights
 @ All three of the Group’s highly differentiated battery cells 

in development made good progress during the year and 
remain on track for one to be released in each of the next 
three years.

 @ In June AMTE Power was selected as the lead in a new 
government funded three-year project called ULTRA, 
focused on bringing two AMTE Power lithium-ion batteries 
to automotive readiness alongside key brands. BMW and 
Arrival sit on the project steering group. 

 @ Under a framework agreement with the publicly funded 
£130m UK Battery Industrialisation Centre (“UKBIC”) AMTE 
Power is one of the first to take advantage of this facility as 
part of the scale-up of its products in advance 
of commercialisation.

 @ As we move towards production the active engagement mix 
has moved away from development orientated 
engagements and towards commercial supply agreements, 
up over the six months to 30 June 2021 from 9 to 19 out of a 
total of 68 active engagements.

 @ Production expansion plans for a UK Gigafactory (initially 
2GWh increasing to 10GWh and beyond over time) have 
made substantial progress. The Group has engaged with 
local authorities for regions with preferred sites, and national 
funding sources to secure government grants and 
developed detailed designs.

* 15-month period.
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 @ Constructive collaboration and 
dialogue with a wide range of 
commercial partners providing 
underlying confidence in the 
route to commercialisation 
for the Group’s portfolio 
of battery products.

 @ The Group expects to confirm 
the site of its UK based 
Gigafactory and government 
funding support in 2022.

 @ Post year end announced 
signing of shareholder 
agreement to formalise the 
joint venture with InfraNomics 
in Australia.

 @ The joint venture, called 
Bardan Cells, will operate from 
Australia’s “Lithium Valley” 
Kwinana Industrial Area, and 
has plans to build and fund a 
200,000 cell micro production 
line as a forerunner to 
establishing a 1-2GWh 
per annum Gigafactory.

Transition 
to volume 
production The Group expects to confirm the site of 

its UK based Gigafactory and government 
funding support in 2022.”
Kevin Brundish
CEO
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Powering a cleaner future 
Our business approach is to embed our extensive IP portfolio into 
differentiated products and scale manufacturing capacity 

Innovation

Commercialis
at

io
n

Supply

Intellectual property 

 @ Extensive IP portfolio licensed 
in and developed further

 @ IP built upon extensive 
investment by the likes of 
QinetiQ and Faradion

Expertise 

 @ 67-strong team with substantial 
industry experience

 @ 22 in product development

 @ Strong industrialisation team 
delivering new capacity

Manufacturing 

 @ Existing Thurso facility (£35m 
replacement cost)

 @ Access to UKBIC, leveraging 
capacity

 @ Build out programmes for 
Gigafactories in UK and 
Australia

Partners 

 @ £2.7m invoiced to commercial 
partners for product development

 @ Ongoing discussions with 
potential supply chain partners
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Why AMTE Power?

1. 
Major market opportunity 
Playing an active role in the “Green Industrial Revolution”, AMTE Power’s 
aim is to become a key player in the development and supply of the 
next generation of battery cells to multiple industries.

Well placed to capitalise on increased market uptake of electric 
vehicles and personal devices, growing environmental concerns and 
increasing regulation and political pressure to shift away from the use 
of fossil fuels.

2.
Diverse and differentiated product portfolio  
and strong partnerships
AMTE Power sits outside of the main competition with three highly 
differentiated battery cells that are advanced in their development, 
with one expected to be released in each of the next three years, 
and a pipeline of technologies for future development. 

The intellectual property in the Group’s differentiated products  
is critical to the Group’s business, and it protects approximately  
39 manufacturing processes and formulations and five designs 
as trade secrets.

3.
Capability to deliver
One of only a few UK commercial battery cell manufacturers with its 
purpose-built cell manufacturing facility at Thurso, Scotland, which 
has the second largest cell manufacturing capacity in the UK.

With access to higher volume production facilities, AMTE Power is 
scaling its products towards Gigafactory production rates (“Gigapace”).

AMTE Power is in advanced discussions with UK Government-linked 
funding sources as it seeks support for the development of its 
proposed large scale production facilities.

AMTE Power has advanced plans to scale its production capacity to 
2GWh per annum, initially, with further plans to 10GWh/annum and 
beyond to meet growing market demand.

Signed shareholder agreement to formalise a joint venture in 
Australia, with initial plans to build a 200,000 cell per annum micro 
production line ahead of establishing a Gigafactory.
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Solving key problems for customers

I am delighted to be making my first full year results statement for 
AMTE Power as a public company. The successful IPO earlier this 
year has placed the business in a strong position with the financial 
support to achieve its immediate commercial targets, and in the 
12 months under review significant progress has already been made 
towards those targets.

Strategy
AMTE Power was created to focus on the requirements of specialist 
customers whose power, performance and endurance needs are 
outside the scope of the mainstream international battery manufacturers 
and also to not simply be a developer but have the manufacturing 
capability to deliver products. Despite being a specialist, the markets 
and customers being targeted are significant. Currently, the Group 
has three highly differentiated battery cells in development, with 
one expected to be released in each of the next three years, and a 
pipeline of technologies for future development.

Alongside proving the capabilities of the individual cells to be 
manufactured at scale and their ability to meet the needs of our 
commercial partners and future customers, the Group will need 
to build a new UK manufacturing facility to expand capacity, initially 
to approximately 2GWh per annum. The market will ultimately determine 
the speed and scale of our expansion, and we have not set an upper 
limit, with plans that include scale-up to 10GWh per annum and 
beyond. We are currently expecting to have our expanded volume 
manufacturing plant in place by 2024/25. Progress on product 
development and intellectual property, commercial partnerships and 
the building of the new manufacturing facility are the key elements of the 
Group’s focus.

Delivery
In addition to completing a very successful IPO during the period under 
review, the management team also delivered against its operational 
targets. Product development continued apace throughout the year. 
We are currently evaluating at UKBIC the speed of manufacture of both 
the Ultra High Power and Ultra Energy cells, with early results being 
positive for both cells. At year end, the Group was involved in 68 active 

engagements on a range of opportunities including commercial 
development and product request opportunities as well as advanced 
discussions to create consortia to secure grant funding for focused 
projects that support our cell development programmes.

Next year the Group intends to identify its preferred site for building 
a new manufacturing facility. The Group expects to attract significant 
government support to help fund the building of the new factory. 

The Board
As part of the IPO, the Board was pleased to welcome Alyson Levett 
as a Non-Executive Director. Alyson joined the Board in January 2021 
and brings significant public company experience. Adam Westcott, 
Chief Financial Officer, also joined the Board during the financial year 
(December 2020) having been part of the senior management team 
since joining the Group in January 2018. In June 2021, Adam decided 
to leave the Group to take up a new role and I would like to thank Adam 
for his significant contribution to the business. I am also delighted 
to welcome James Hobson, an experienced AIM company finance 
director, who joined on 4 October 2021 to succeed Adam.

Employees
It would be remiss of me not to thank our employees for all of their 
efforts in this year of significant change and evolution in our company. 
We have had to deal with the impact of COVID-19 across our business 
and our customers and suppliers. In addition, we have significantly 
grown the team as we look towards product release.

Outlook
AMTE Power is in a good position. There is a high level of commercial 
interest in our products. We remain on target with the plans to achieve 
the commercialisation we set out at the time of our IPO and we can see 
new opportunities arising as we collaborate more fully with our range of 
partners. That said, our focus will remain on progressing our three core 
specialist battery cells into full scale production.

David Morgan
Independent Non-Executive Chair
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Our strategy

Our purpose  
is to power a cleaner global future through the supply  

of innovative battery products

Our vision  
is to become a large volume manufacturer of our core products for 

global markets 

Our mission  
is to meet the challenges of technically advanced markets where superior cell 

performance and a secure supply base is a primary customer requirement
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Solving key problems for specialist customers

Introduction
FY21 has been an important year for AMTE Power. Firstly, the Group 
completed a successful IPO in March 2021 raising new capital in an 
oversubscribed placing and, secondly, there was a step change in the 
Government’s commitment to making the UK a centre of excellence 
for battery innovation and production. Under the “Green Industrial 
Revolution” the Government set out its plans for decarbonisation with a 
flagship policy of switching the motor industry to electric vehicles by 
2030. For AMTE Power, becoming a public company is part of our 
progression towards the commercialisation of our portfolio of battery 
cells and the Government’s active involvement in our industry is 
fundamental to the success of the sector. As a result, we believe the 
Group is well placed to achieve its commercial targets.

Financial review
As a Group we grew turnover 55% to £2.0m compared to £1.3m for 
the previous period. This was driven by an increase in grant income of 
176% compared to the previous period. Grant income accounted for 
65% of turnover in the year (up from 37% in 2020). The Group continues 
to invest in its product development, which resulted in operating losses 
of £3.6m for the year (2020: (£1.9m)). 

The dominant event in the year was the raising of £12.9m of gross 
proceeds and the IPO for the business, resulting in a strong financial 
platform from which to finalise the product development and lay the 
groundwork for the building of our own Gigafactory. 

Operational review 
Importantly, we have made good progress on the four key elements 
which come together to progress the portfolio of battery cells 
towards commercialisation.

Product development
The Group’s most differentiated product for the automotive battery 
cell market is Ultra High Power, a rechargeable pouch format battery 
cell. Ultra High Power is being developed in conjunction with several 
specialist manufacturers in the automotive industry (BMW and Arrival 
are part of the steering group for the Ultra project) and has the ability 
to deliver power consistently at a very high rate, thereby enhancing 
acceleration in high performance vehicles. At first, the Ultra High 
Power solely targeted the high performance motor industry but the 
potential is clear to also target mainstream performance cars and 
advanced interest from motor manufacturers reflects this.

The Group’s cell for the oil and gas market is Ultra Prime, a single use 
cylindrical battery cell. Ultra Prime is being designed with very high 
energy and high temperature performance for use in challenging 
environments. In addition to these features, the Ultra Prime cell is 
designed to have a very long standby life with no loss of performance, 
making it ideal for use not only where restricted access is a key 
consideration, but also where the battery needs to be in situ for an 
extended period. We already have a development and supply 
agreement for our Ultra Prime cell with an equipment manufacturer 
within the oil and gas sector. Cells manufactured in low volume have 
already demonstrated that they meet the performance required for 
our client base with growing evidence, as time passes, of the longevity of 
the cells. The manufacture of cells is now being transferred back to 
Thurso, in readiness for higher volumes with a target of up to 1 million 
cells per annum, for onward supply to the client for industry 
certification testing prior to supply commencing. Early interest is also 
being seen from other market sectors, in particular defence, due to 
its very high energy density.
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High power performance
AMTE Power focuses on differentiated cells, complementary to more traditional mass 
volume energy cells, with our high power cells being an example. Our Ultra High Power 
cell is designed to contain as much power as possible in as little space as possible. 
With generation 1 focused on high performance vehicles, and scheduled for release 
late 2021, we have two further iterations which progressively open up wider and more 
substantial markets with our target market for generation 2 being the luxury/premium 
end of mainstream brands and our target market for generation 3 being more mainstream 
vehicles. Operating in conjunction with an energy cell, or a fuel cell, the Ultra High Power 
cell can offload the energy solution making it more compact and lower weight, enhancing 
overall vehicle performance including range. 

10x
Power density compared 
to conventional li-ion

Power in 
motion
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Power 
together

Collaboration throughout the supply chain
Bringing a new product to market must be done in collaboration with 
both target end users and the supply chain to ensure a product is 
ready for market at scale. We have engagements with end users and 
supply chain partners. With our ability to manufacture a key differentiator, 
we are able to provide our end user partners with early prototypes 
to ensure our products are being developed to meet their needs. 
Working with our supply chain partners, we are looking to develop 
low carbon solutions for our raw materials and set up onshore 
supply chains that meet our needs both today and when we scale 
to Gigafactory production rates.
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Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”) 
The Board reviews a range of targeted KPIs, which measure the progress 
being made by the Group. Product KPIs link development milestones 
and product performance to the product release dates. Intellectual 
Property KPIs such as patent applications, product trademarks and 
registered designs, are monitored to ensure our products are 
protected. Commercial KPIs link the product development activities 
to the sales pipeline and engagement of commercialisation partners.

Operational KPIs ensure that overheads and cash resources are tightly 
controlled. Industrialisation KPIs monitor our progress towards large 
scale manufacturing and link to our product development end user 
client engagements. The most important financial KPIs are the cash 
position, turnover and profitability of the Group, which remain under 
regular review by the management and board, the control of which is 
also reviewed by the Audit and Risk Committee.

Commercial collaboration
A key signal as to the future demand for our battery cells is the involvement 
of OEMs in key projects, such as ULTRA, a new government funded 
three-year project which AMTE Power is to lead and which focuses on 
bringing two AMTE Power lithium-ion batteries to automotive 
readiness alongside key industry brands. This project, and others like it 
to come, demonstrates the high level of interest in our battery cells 
both from government and commercial partners. Vehicle OEMs 
including BMW and Arrival are part of the project’s steering group.

Our objective is to secure long-term engagements with clients which 
are aligned with our timeline for when our products become accredited 
and ready for volume production. 

Gigafactory
Alongside the product development, we continued to progress our 
plans for a “Gigafactory” as part of the proposed expansion of our 
production capability, developing our ability to meet the expected 
customer demand for our products. Discussions with UK Government 
funding sources are well developed and we expect to gain financial 
support behind our expansion plans.

The Group has also continued to develop its relationship with 
InfraNomics, a leading Australia infrastructure provider, and entered 
into a new JV that will manufacture battery cells for use in power 
storage systems with initial plans for 2GWh per annum production 
levels in Australia. As recently announced, the new venture will 
operate from the “Lithium Valley” Kwinana Industrial zone in Western 
Australia, an area dedicated to the development of lithium-related 
products and which contains one of the largest raw material deposits 
in the world for li-ion batteries.

Outlook
Electrification is happening and is driven by a global shift away from 
fossil fuels and in the UK by a government determined that the 
country plays a central role in battery production. AMTE Power is a 
specialist within a very large market and offers highly differentiated 
products to substantial corporations whose needs are different from 
the mainstream. In the trials and tests we are currently conducting we 
know we are meeting their varying requirements for additional power, 
durability and extended life, and as a consequence we are excited by 
the future potential of our business.

Kevin Brundish
Chief Executive Officer

AMTE Power is a specialist within a very large market and offers 
highly differentiated products to substantial corporations whose 
needs are different from the mainstream.”

Operational review continued
Product development continued
Ultra Safe, aimed at the energy storage market, is based chemically 
on sodium, an element which is more readily available, and at a significantly 
lower price, than lithium. Good progress was made during the year 
towards product release and, whilst at an earlier stage than the other 
pipeline products, it has the greatest opportunity to be a transformational 
product in the battery market place, given the significant potential 
advantages it has over lithium-ion-based battery cells as a storage 
medium in terms of safety, efficacy and cost. 

Earlier this year, AMTE Power signed a framework agreement with the 
publicly funded UKBIC. UKBIC is now coming online and AMTE Power is 
one of the first to take advantage of this facility as it begins the scale-up 
of its Ultra High Power and Ultra Energy cells. This is an important step 
in demonstrating that AMTE Power’s products can be manufactured at a 
speed consistent with Gigafactory rates of production (“Gigapace”) and 
we are pleased to report that certain aspects of the manufacturing 
steps are already achieving the rate of production that will be required 
if we are to be able to meet the expected level of customer demand 
and we are not aware of any impediments in other aspects. 

Intellectual property
The cells under development have embedded innovation and 
intellectual property, which is licensed from third parties. AMTE 
Power has also generated its own intellectual property which is 
protected through patenting, registered designs and trade marks. 
The Ultra brand of products is now almost fully trade marked for use. 
Three patent applications have been submitted in the reported 
period to strengthen the IP base in the Group.
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Cultivate and grow the IP portfolio Continual product development to retain competitive advantage

Enabling the development of products that are competitive and can be protected. Have products, certified for end market use, that can be manufactured at the required scale to meet 
market demand. 

In-period achievements:
 @ QinetiQ licence expanded to include exclusivity for our oil and gas clients.

 @ Three patents filed in support of emerging and core products. Registered designs awarded in the UK 
for the “Ultra” applications brand of products.

 @ IP watch identified potential competitors with roadmap developed to maintain and advance AMTE 
Power product competitive position.

In-period achievements:
 @ Ultra High Power and Ultra Energy prototypes completed and performed in line with expectations.

 @ Commenced transition to Gigafactory production rates (“Gigapace”) for Ultra High Power and Ultra 
Energy; “Gigapace” already achieved for some subcomponents.

 @ Ultra Prime is meeting its gateway milestones.

FY21/22 priorities:
 @ Monitor competitive landscape report and competitive threat matrix.

 @ Expand R&D to increase product development pace and expand the IP portfolio.

 @ Register IP associated with new products and enhanced manufacturing processes.

 @ Complete registration of “Ultra” brand designs worldwide.

FY21/22 priorities:
 @ “Gigapace” for Ultra High Power and Ultra Energy cells demonstrated for all subcomponents – GWh 

rate production for all production processes.

 @ Release of Ultra High Power, Ultra Energy product, Ultra Storage cells in FY21/22, initially to UN 38.3 
certified testing then fully tested to relevant market requirements.

 @ Continued development of Ultra Prime and Ultra Safe cells to release in FY22/23 and FY23/24 respectively.

 @ Continued development of Ultra High Power and Ultra Energy cells (Generation 2) against product 
roadmap to ensure continued competitiveness and facilitate wider market adoption.

 @ Secure additional development funding to support continued product development.

Risk categories

3

Risk categories

1 32 4

Delivering our strategy
Creating shareholder value through the development and supply of differentiated battery 
cells into automotive and energy storage markets for a cleaner global future
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Expand presence in specialised and substantial growth markets Invest in expansion of production capacity

Enable scaling of the business by securing orders for the AMTE Power products in specialised, but 
substantial, markets.

Provide sufficient production capacity to meet client demand and forecast sales budgets. Ensure the 
skills, supply chain and production processes are available to support high volume production.

In-period achievements:
 @ Won sales orders and grant income projects in year worth £4.2m.

 @ Won strategic project (APC 16 – Project “ULTRA”) with Arrival and BMW as steering group members.

 @ Provision of Ultra High Power and Ultra Energy prototype cells to major automotive and aerospace OEMs.

 @ Provision of Ultra Prime prototype cells to tier 1 partner in oil and gas market.

In-period achievements – gearing up to high speed Gigapace production:
 @ Grew industrialisation team and short listed sites for UK-based Gigafactory.

 @ Advanced the design of AMTE Power’s Gigafactory.

 @ Engaged government funding sources, with a view to securing an offer for UK production expansion 
plans – UK Gigafactory.

 @ Signed HoTs to create a joint venture in Australia which will manufacture AMTE Power Ultra Storage 
cells, initially targeting 2GWh/annum with options to expand to 10GWh/annum, for energy 
storage markets.

 @ Reviewed production processes in Scotland and identified a clear route to deliver the Ultra Prime 
product (to meet anticipated client demand of up to 1 million cells per annum) and commenced 
recommissioning of production equipment.

FY21/22 priorities:
 @ Add additional revenue stream through early product sales of Ultra Energy and Ultra High Power cells.

 @ Continue market analysis and review competitive landscape; provide information into product roadmaps.

 @ Improve the strength of the brand through increased PR and IR activities.

 @ Further develop existing and new relationships with vehicle OEMs.

FY21/22 priorities – continue drive towards Gigapace:
 @ Expand production team and take control of Ultra High Power and Ultra Energy cell production within 

the UKBIC. 

 @ Select site for Gigafactory in UK.

 @ Progress funding for UK Gigafactory.

 @ Sign shareholder agreement for the JV in Australia and assist the JV in securing initial funding to build 
production capability. 

Risk categories

1 32 4 5

Risk categories

3 5

Delivering our strategy continued

AMTE Power plc | Annual report and accounts 2021 13

1 2 3 4Strategic report | Strategic pillars continued

3. 4.



Power for 
good

The road to net zero
We take our responsibilities to achieving a low carbon environment seriously and that 
we have a role to play in achieving net zero for both the UK and further afield is clear. 
Batteries have a significant part to play in improving air quality and associated health 
issues, from responsible sourcing of raw materials through to recycling; our plans 
and relationships will allow our scale-up to meet our responsibilities to the global 
environment challenge. Our products have the potential to provide longer-range 
electric vehicles and lower cost, reliable and safe energy storage for use in homes 
and to enhance performance of renewable energy solutions. Our products are also 
focused on decarbonising more conventional energy sectors. We have strategic 
alignments with both supply chain partners and cell recycling capabilities, to ensure 
we meet our responsibilities as we scale our production. 

14 AMTE Power plc | Annual report and accounts 2021
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Strategic report | Sustainability continued

Introducing a strategic approach to ESG

Socially conscious 

A safety first culture where our people and our 
communities are at the heart of our value. 

Key areas of exploration
 @ Maintaining our safety first approach.

 @ Engagement with our local communities.

 @ Creating sustainable supply chains including recycling.

Things we’re proud of
 @ AMTE manufactured and supplied free of charge masks 

to local NHS trusts. 

 @ No transmission of COVID-19 in the Group to date.

 @ Supported local groups initiatives.

At the heart of the green transition 

Power a cleaner global future through the supply 
of innovative battery products. 

Key areas of exploration
 @ Scalable clean battery technology. 

 @ Creating smart, sustainable factories.

 @ Integrated localised supply chains to reduced our 
CO2 carbon footprint.

Key statistics
 @ Electrification of vehicles can remove c. 1Tonne of CO2 for every 

10000 km driven1.

 @ “An estimated seven million people die prematurely each year from 
diseases linked to air pollution”, according to the WHO2.

Play a core 
technology role in 

the road to net 
zero in the UK and 
beyond, as part of 

the solution to 
climate change. 

To grow our 
business with our 

values and 
embedded 

social ethos.

Good governance 
ensures we deliver 

our corporate 
responsibilities 

and remain 
socially 

responsible in 
meeting our 

environmental 
goals.

Three pronged approach

What we are reporting on this year 

 @ Sharing a forward-looking approach in our  
maiden report.

 @ Commentary on future TCFD reporting when it 
becomes mandatory.

Labour 
standards

BiodiversityHuman 
rights and 

community

Climate 
change

Health & 
safety

Pollution and 
resources

Customer 
responsibility

Water 
security

1.  SMMT - Emissions Facts & Figures 
– SMMT Average new car CO2 emissions 
rose in 2018, up 2.9% to 124.5g/km, 
giving 1,245,000g for 10k km, or 1.2T for 
10k km driven.

2.  Air pollution: Even worse than we thought 
- WHO - BBC News.

3.  Business and individual attitudes towards 
the future of homeworking, UK - Office for 
National Statistics (ons.gov.uk).

Engaged governance 

To embed best practices into our everyday work approach.

Key areas of exploration
 @ Embedding our Group ESG, values and behaviours.

 @ Auditing and bench marking our governance. 

 @ Ensuring tax transparency and anti-corruption.

 @ Acting with integrity on our learning. 

Tax 
transparency

Risk  
management

Corporate 
governance

Anti-
corruption
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Introducing a strategic approach to ESG continued

Implementing our strategic approach

Key areas of exploration
 @ Deliver our PDCA (Plan Do Check Act) strategy to deliver our 

ESG goals across the business.

 @ Educating and empowering our teams to deliver the strategy.

 @ Measuring our progress and celebrating success. 

 @ Auditing and bench marking our governance. 

 @ Acting with integrity on our learning and improving.

 @ Look to demonstrate our learnings to our peers.

 @ ESG values and behaviours are part of business decision 
making process.

 @ Ensuring living by our values and behaviours are the norm, 
recognised and rewarded annually.

Company Values and ESG
 @ Operate a Safety First culture .

 @ Act Ethically and with Integrity .

 @ Place the Customer First .

 @ Work Collaboratively and take Responsibility. 

 @ Care for our Environment and our Community .

Act

Check

Plan

Do

We conduct our 
business in a socially 

responsible and 
ethical manner.

A safety first culture where our people 
and our communities are at the heart 
of our values.”
Kevin Brundish
CEO
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Introducing a strategic approach to ESG continued

‘Reinventing the wheel’

Key areas of exploration
 @ The ESG Wheel is AMTE Power’s delivery model for the key 

themes of its ESG, in the business and supply chain.

 @ The wheel illustrates AMTE Power’s board being at the centre 
of ESG, it governance and its delivery.

 @ Each theme is supported by pillars of policy and processes, 
addressing key concerns.

 @ The ambition is to integrate the ESG wheel and its supporting 
pillars into the business areas. 

Risk  
management

Anti-
corruption

Tax 
transparency

Corporate 
governance

Biodiversity

Climate 
change

Pollution and 
resources

Water 
security

Labour 
standards

Human rights 
and community
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safety
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Supply chain: Social
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AMTE Power’s core products are focused 
on the trend towards electrification in the 
automotive industry, whilst providing a 
strong platform from which to deploy 
our cells in the emerging aerospace and 
fast-growing energy storage markets. 
These markets provide a real opportunity 
for scalable and sustainable growth as 
AMTE’s product portfolio is brought to 
market. As a result of increased focus on 
corporate sustainability and net zero targets, 
we are seeing real opportunities in our 
target specialist markets for our cells. 

Strategic report | Product and market review

Automotive Aerospace

 @ The aerospace market is undergoing an exciting transition, with the 
two main areas for electrification through to 2035 being commercial 
airliners and the exciting and rapidly emerging electric Vertical 
Takeoff and Landing (eVTOL) market, where there is significant 
investment in battery powered systems for flight.

 @ The development of our high-power cell (Ultra High Power) positions 
AMTE strongly in the emerging electric aerospace market. In particular 
the urban aerospace or eVTOL short range aircraft market, where 
weight, performance and safety are critical, gives AMTE a strong 
market position as this develops.

 @ The work we’ve embarked on for eVTOLs has the potential to be 
developed further for long range passenger transport, as major 
aircraft manufacturers work on hybrid electric solutions for their 
longer-range jets. Hybrid options are required for long distance, 
passenger aircrafts, combining current engines with new lithium-ion 
cell technologies, to provide a greener air travel. 

 @ In automotive, with both legislation driving key deadlines for EV 
adoption, and increasing consumer interest in buying electric 
vehicles to reduce emissions, the demand for lithium-ion cells will 
grow exponentially. Electric vehicle developments continue to 
demand increased cell performance. This, combined with the Rules 
of Origin legislation (a significant part of the total car build cost must 
be sourced locally or within region), is driving demand for locally 
produced cells.

 @ AMTE is bringing Ultra High-Power cells to market, providing 
exceptional power performance for applications where power, not 
just range, are key requirement; together with AMTE’s Ultra Energy 
cell which provides range. Market demand is forecast to grow well 
beyond the current global supply capability over the next decade. In 
the UK a further eight Gigafactories are needed to satisfy the 
demand from UK based industries, to fulfil the demand from car and 
commercial vehicle manufacturers alone. The world capacity will 
have to increase more than five times current global production 
capacity to meet global demand.

 @ As traditional hybrid electric vehicles are being phased out by mid 
2030s, as required by law, new hydrogen powered hybrids (fuel cell 
electric vehicles or “FCEVs”) will enter the market alongside battery 
electric vehicles. Hydrogen will form part of a strategy for many 
global automotive brands. This move, to fuel cell electric vehicles, 
provides further significant opportunity for AMTE and our high-
powered cells; FCEVs are great at providing energy which means 
range, but require high power cells integrated into their system 
design to operate effectively.Find out more:

Our products  
amtepower.com/our-products/
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Energy storage Specialised markets

 @ The world’s energy storage market is seeing a significant shift in pace 
for investment and adoption of renewable energy technologies. This 
is a result of the Paris Climate Agreement in 2016, and a continued, 
strong focus on the impact of climate change. Large scale 
deployments, particularly of wind and solar energy generation 
projects, have resulted in an increased demand for battery storage 
systems. These systems range from home energy storage systems 
through to large scale battery storage systems supporting towns, 
cities, and other remote communities, for example mines. It allows 
for efficient management of renewably generated power for supply 
when these renewable sources cannot generate energy.

 @ These storage systems also provide for grid energy storage and 
support load balancing, as traditional grids are designed for a steady 
stream of electricity production. With the increased use of 
renewable energy sources, where electricity generation often 
depends on the weather, such as wind, the energy generation profile 
is far more variable. This causes peaks and troughs that need to be 
managed more flexibly; energy storage systems allow battery packs 
to store energy, overcoming these difficulties. 

 @ With the market for energy storage systems, and the cells that form 
them, continuing to grow significantly over the next 20 years, supply 
of cells and systems must be generated to support this growth. This 
is challenging for the cell manufacturing industry as focus has been 
on automotive, where large scale global car brands with long term 
high volume call off contracts consume most of the current available 
scale production. AMTE’s Ultra Storage and Ultra Safe cells will provide 
a safe, and secure supply of cells, to meet the fast-growing application 
of energy storage systems for clean energy generation, and support 
load balancing and transition to a more flexible grid structure.

 @ We also see demand for our core products through other market 
areas, such as off highway vehicles. The nature of work undertaken 
in decarbonising industries such as construction, mining, oil and gas, 
and agriculture will need energy storage as part of the solution. 
With this, and a growing engagement with the rail industry, we 
expect additional volume orders from outside of our core markets, 
supporting us further to expand our manufacturing footprint in line 
with our plans.

 @ In addition, our Ultra Prime cell, which is non-rechargeable, is being 
designed with very high energy density and high-temperature 
performance, for use in some of the most difficult environments. 
Furthermore, this cell also has a very low self-discharge; ideal for use 
where access is a key consideration. The product release date is due 
Q4-2023, and a contract for supply of this cell into subsea applications 
has already been signed.

 @ Our broader technology portfolio, especially in areas such as flexible 
batteries (which can be bent and shaped into all sorts of forms and 
built into products) is attracting attention from global technology 
brands. This gives us further options to create value from our 
technology base and IP portfolio.

These markets provide 
opportunity for scalable and 
sustainable growth as AMTE 
Power’s product portfolio is 
brought to market.”
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Ultra High Power cell Ultra-Safe Ultra Prime cell

 @ AMTE Power’s Ultra High Power cell is a next-generation pouch 
format lithium-ion power cell, designed to target automotive and 
aerospace hybrid and electric vehicles.

 @ The cell has been designed for leading power performance through 
the use of high power chemistries and thin electrode layers to 
maximise the power output.

 @ The 300 x 100 mm pouch is a standard pouch size used in automotive 
and production scaled up through the UKBIC, allowing for optimisation 
of the manufacturing process on Gigascale manufacturing equipment. 

 @ The development of the Ultra High Power cell is being supported by 
the UK Government on two R&D projects, ULTRA and Power-UP, to 
a sum of £4m, and has the guidance and support of some of the 
industry’s largest OEMs.

 @ AMTE Power’s high power cell will enable car manufacturers to 
improve performance of their electric vehicles, allowing higher 
performance and faster charging, whilst offering a potential weight 
advantage.

 @ There is also strong interest from the aerospace sector. The Ultra 
High Power cell meets the needs of drone and eVTOL aircraft, which 
need an extremely power dense cell for their lift-off and landing phases.

 @ Sodium-ion chemistry delivers a high performance, safe and 
cost-effective battery solution for key applications, such as 
energy storage for renewable and grid applications, back-up 
power and providing safe home energy storage solutions.

 @ The abundance of sodium and ease of access to sodium deposits 
compared with lithium make the component materials more cost 
effective and cheaper to produce than lithium-ion cells.

 @ The ambient temperature range of the chemistry assists the safe 
deployment in high temperature environments, making it suitable for 
applications that rely on safety in warmer environments and where 
safety is critical, for example in home energy storage applications. 

 @ Unlike lithium-ion cells, which must be transported under strict UN 
guidelines with the associated costs, sodium-ion provides a safer 
transport proposition. Transport can be done at zero volts, 
benefiting from potential additional savings.

 @ Sodium-ion cells have demonstrated great performance and excellent 
capacity retention over the temperature range -20°C to +60°C. 

 @ We are now making these cells and putting them into modules for 
use in energy storage systems, to demonstrate the cells’ safety and 
performance in energy storage applications.

 @ The Ultra Prime cell is a non rechargeable lithium metal primary 
cell, in 24700 cylindrical format, which will be tested in market 
in 2022.

 @ The key design features of this cell, which are significantly better 
than other available cells allow it to operate in very high 
temperature environments (125 deg C), and over a significant 
period of time (six years), without intervention.

 @ This cell has been designed to allow platform operators in the oil 
and gas industry, to use acoustic communications systems, to 
electrically operate valves and actuators to control the data and oil 
flow from the well head. This allows operators to extract more from 
existing wells and significantly reduce costs and carbon footprint.

 @ These cells will be manufactured on a dedicated micro production 
line once final testing has been completed.

Find out more:
Energy Storage  
amtepower.com/energy-storage/

Find out more:
Automotive  
amtepower.com/automotive/

Find out more:
Specialised Markets  
amtepower.com/specialised-markets/

Strategic report | Product and market review continued

Next generation, now
Differentiated products for specialised markets
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Addressing supply chain challenges
Significant markets with supply chain imbalances

Ultra Energy cell Ultra Storage cell

 @ AMTE Power’s Ultra Energy cell is a next-generation, 21700 format 
cylindrical Lithium-ion energy cell, designed to target automotive 
aerospace and any other EV application that requires an energy 
dense cell, for longer distance applications.

 @ The generation 1 Ultra Energy cell design combines high energy 
with 21700 cylindrical design optimising energy density. Generation 
2 is aimed at increased wattage from generation 1 providing more 
power in addition to great energy density.

 @ The 21700 format is the most widely used format in electric vehicles 
today, used by many brands such as Tesla. This allows AMTE Power 
the ability to replace cells in existing applications, and when 
considering rules of origin laws (a significant part of the total car 
build cost must be sourced locally or within region) provides a great 
option for local cell manufacture and supply.

 @ The cell has generated a lot of interest in the commercial EV space, with 
automotive OEMs and their supply chains declaring interest in testing 
samples. It is also ideally designed for the burgeoning e-bike and 
electric scooter market, where there are significant potential volumes.

 @ The Ultra Storage cell is a rechargeable cell, manufactured using 
lithium iron phosphate material, produced in a pouch format, this 
cell will be introduced to our range in 2022.

 @ Lithium Iron Phosphate (“LFP”) has been the chemistry of choice 
for ESS ( Energy Storage Systems) customers for some time, it 
has stable safety characteristics making Ultra Storage a good 
replacement option where previously, a lead-acid battery was 
used. Ultra-storage is well-positioned for use in solar and wind 
farm grid storage applications.

 @ The Ultra Storage cell contains neither Nickel nor Cobalt, both of 
which are supply-constrained and expensive. With extended cycle 
life, the Ultra Storage cell offers many additional benefits for ESS 
users looking for a product to provide longevity of use.

 @ The Ultra Storage cell will be supplied as a cell only for use by 
module manufacturers or as a repacked storage module in either 
a stand-alone or rack-mounted configuration.

 @ This cell will be manufactured by our JV in Australia, where over 
50% of the world’s lithium is produced, and provides great local 
supply chain options. 

Find out more:
Aerospace  
amtepower.com/aerospace/

AMTE Power has three 
differentiated products in Ultra 
High Power, Ultra Safe, and 
Ultra Prime designed to provide 
technical differentiation, and 
operational benefits. We have 
two further products Ultra Energy 
and Ultra Storage, designed to 
address significant markets with 
supply constraints.”

Find out more:
Energy Storage  
amtepower.com/energy-storage/
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Key workers

Principal risks

Product 
development

Commercial

Production 
scale-up Financial

Managing and mitigating our key risks

Our risk management process
The Board of AMTE Power is responsible for ensuring that the 
management of risks faced by the Group is suitable and that internal 
controls and review processes are effective. The internal controls have 
been put in place to manage risk rather than eliminate it and to provide 
reasonable assurance against misstatement and/or loss. The Audit 
& Risk Committee reviews the processes and effectiveness of the 
controls on an annual basis. 
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Managing and mitigating our key risks continued

Strategic report | Risk management and principal risks continued

Risk Description Mitigation

1. Commercial The Group is subject to competition from competitors which may develop more 
advanced and less expensive alternative technology platforms. The Group is 
dependent on partners to commercialise products.

The Group seeks to reduce this risk by continually assessing competitive technologies and 
competitors via a “threat matrix”. The Group seeks to commercialise its cells through more 
specialised markets which are not the focus of the traditional volume manufacturers. 
The Group is focused on multiple products with multiple channels to market to reduce 
over-reliance on individual partners.

2. Financial The Group is currently reliant on a small number of significant customers, partners and 
grant funding bodies. Termination of these agreements or grant programmes could 
have a material adverse effect on the Group’s results or operations or financial condition. 
The Group expects to incur further operating losses as progress on development 
programmes continues.

The Group seeks to reduce this risk by broadening the number of customers and partners, 
thereby reducing reliance on individual significant companies, and by leveraging its IP and 
resources over multiple projects. The Group applies for research and development tax credits 
to help mitigate its investment in these activities.

3.  Dependence on senior 
management and key staff

Certain members of staff are considered vital to the successful development of the 
business. Failure to continue to attract and retain such highly skilled individuals could 
adversely affect operational results. 

The Group seeks to reduce this risk by offering appropriate incentives to staff through 
competitive salary packages and participation in long-term share option schemes and 
a good working environment in an exciting industry.

4. Product development The Group’s success is reliant on the products being developed to time and in line 
with expected performance. The Group faces scheduling risks regarding access to 
the UKBIC as more entities engage with the UKBIC. 

Products are developed in line with best practice in automotive, with gated reviews to 
ensure that the products are developed in collaboration with supply chain partners and end 
users to ensure performance is in line with market expectation.

The Group has a framework agreement with a relatively large volume manufacturing facility 
of battery cells to minimise scheduling risks.

5. Production scale-up The Group will need to scale production to meet its market opportunities and deliver 
its full potential. As the Group is in a buoyant market, there is competition for skills, 
services and equipment to scale up production. Processes and business operations 
will also need to be scaled up, as will the supply chain.

Initial designs of the larger production facility (“Gigafactory”) have been completed along 
with cell performance and specifications, and business financial modelling to allow the 
selection of equipment to begin. Supply chain partnerships have been active throughout 
the design and commercialisation process of the cells to mitigate as far as possible the 
risks of supply chain/raw material availability.
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Strategic report | Financial review

Significant recent investment underpins progress towards 
product commercialisation

The year was dominated by the successful fundraising and IPO in 
March 2021, where we raised gross proceeds of £12.9m to set us up 
nicely to complete the product development programmes we are 
currently undertaking. As a result of the over-subscription we have 
been able to accelerate our investment in people as we look to 
complete the development work on the products. Aligned with this 
has been the opportunity to accelerate the preparation work 
required to deliver our own Gigafactory.

At year end our cash position was £9.3m (2020: £1.0m) giving the 
Group a very healthy financial platform from which to grow. We have 
used the additional funds to invest in our electrochemists and 
engineers, core contributors to the development of battery cells, as 
well as increasing our access to the UKBIC, which should enable us to 
exhibit at an earlier stage than expected the production rates 
necessary to meet Gigafactory standards, “Gigapace”.

Despite the significant challenges presented to us by COVID-19, 
we have managed to keep the facility in Thurso open and continue 
with product development. At the same time we closed our sales 
office in London, and temporarily shut our development office near 
Oxford (now re-opened). With both scenarios, however, we have 
been able to continue to work with the same effectiveness as we 
did prior to these mitigating actions designed to reduce the risk 
to our employees.

The year was dominated by the successful 
fundraising and IPO in March 2021, where 
we raised £12.9m.”
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Strategic report | Financial review continued

Trading performance
Turnover grew over 55% compared with the previous period to £2.0m 
(2020: £1.3m). This was all the more impressive as 2020 was a 15 month 
period. The turnover was split between commercial contracts 
revenue (35% (2020: 63%)) and grant income, which supports the 
ongoing development programmes of the business. 

Gross margins increased to 16% for the year (2020: 3%). This was 
despite the increased share of turnover derived from grant income 
and highlights how the increase in output at the facility and bringing 
more work in house has enabled us to improve our cost base 
compared to the previous year. This has also helped to counter the 
trend in increase in unit costs for items such as materials and access 
to facilities.

Operating losses increased to £3.6m (2020: (£1.9m)). The primary 
driver of this was an increase in headcount over the year, rising from 
55 as at 30 June 2020 to 68 at 30 June 2021. Adjusted EBITDA moved 
to (£3.1m) (2020: (£2.0m)).

Adjusted EBITDA is defined as operating losses after all amortisation, 
depreciation, fair value movement in derivatives, movement in 
provisions and equity settled share-based payments have been 
added back and payments against licence obligations and liabilities for 
right-of-use property assets deducted.

Investment revenues for the period were £28k (2020: £17k), while 
net finance costs totalled £246k (2020: £242k). The finance costs 
included interest recognised from lease liabilities over right-of-use 
assets as well as from licence obligations.

We benefited from R&D tax claims, resulting in a positive tax charge 
of £105k for the year (2020: £222k). As the business is currently loss 
making, there is no corporation tax payable on earnings.

The diluted loss per share for the year to 30 June 2021 was 12.59 pence 
(2020: 8.13 pence loss). The increase in loss per share was due to the 
increased operating costs of the business, only partially offset by the 
additional shares issued as part of the fundraises.

The operating figures also include share-based payments arriving 
from the options awarded to employees. As a result of the IPO, all 
of the options held at the time vested and so this year experienced a 
significant one-off charge of £979k in share-based payments within 
the operating costs of the business. 

Cash generation
Our cash position at the end of the year was £9.3m (2020: £0.9m).

Operating activities resulted in £2.5m of cash outflow for the period 
to 30 June 2021 (2020: £1.3m). This was after a net investment in 
working capital of £0.2m (2020: £0.1m). Investment in PPE was £0.3m 
and funding on intangible assets was £0.7m. Financing of borrowings, 
asset financing and licence obligations totalled £0.9m. This was 
funded through the net proceeds of equity fundraising of £12.3m 
(2020: £3.0m).

In January 2021 the Group issued bonus shares to all shareholders 
of 400 ordinary shares for each 1 ordinary share held. This had no 
impact on the Group’s cash position.

Research and development 
Development formed a material part of the Group’s activities this 
year, with a significant portion relating to the development of the 
Group’s own products. The Group capitalised development costs 
of £3.1m for the year (2020: £3.6m) in relation to four of its products 
where it believes there are suitable, near and mid-term sales opportunities. 
The Group had qualifying research and development costs of 
£1.6m (2020: £1.6m) against which it secured both R&D tax credits 
(recognised as tax relief) and R&D expenditure credits (recognised 
as other income and taxed accordingly).

Foreign currency exposure 
The Group currently faces relatively modest currency exposure on its 
foreign currency transactions; however, it does expect this to increase 
in the future as exposure to both foreign currency translation risk and 
transaction risk is expected to increase. The Group maintains a 
natural hedge to transactional exposure by invoicing in foreign 
currencies where appropriate to minimise the difference between 
cash inflows and outflows in the respective currencies. 

IFRS 16 “Leases” 
The Group follows the accounting principal whereby all leased assets 
are reported in the statement of financial position, recognising an 
asset for the right to use the leased item and a liability for the present 
value of its future lease payments. This resulted in the recognition of 
right-of-use assets of £0.9m and corresponding lease liabilities in the 
period to 30 June 2020, but nil in the most recent year. 

IP rights
The Group recognised the right to use the IP that it licensed in as 
intangible assets, adding £0.3m (2020: £11.8m) to the value in the year 
along with an equivalent licence obligation. This resulted in interest 
and amortisation costs of £2.3m (2020: £2.1m) which were capitalised 
as development costs linked to the product development programmes.

Capital Reduction
It has come to the Group’s attention that certain documents in relation 
to the reduction of capital purported to be undertaken by AMTE Power 
shortly before the admission of the Company’s share capital to trading 
on AIM earlier this year were not filed with the Registrar of Companies 
in the requisite timeframe. AMTE Power has taken counsel’s advice and, 
as a result of this administrative oversight, that reduction of capital has 
not been deemed to be effective. Accordingly, AMTE Power, 
notwithstanding the fact that it received a certificate of incorporation 
on re-registration, does not currently meet certain requirements of a 
public company. 

In order to remedy the situation, counsel’s advice is for the Group to 
recommence the process to reduce its share capital and in so doing 
re-seek shareholder approval to cancel the share premium account in 
order to permit AMTE Power to comply with these requirements. The 
resolution seeking shareholder approval is therefore being put to the 
shareholders at the upcoming AGM. Shareholders should be reassured 
that the procedure outlined above is purely administrative and does not 
affect the value of their shareholding in the Group nor the Group’s 
ability to continue trading.

Adam Westcott
Chief Financial Officer 
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1. David Morgan 

Independent Non-Executive Chair
Appointed: 14 April 2020

Relevant skills
 @ Wealth of public and private 

company experience 
 @ Experience in renewables sector
 @ Chair or non-executive director 

of a number of companies

Current appointments
 @ Nord Gold plc (deputy chair)
 @ Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells 

NHS Trust

2.  Rt Hon Viscount 
Thurso PC

Senior Independent Director 
Appointed: 1 June 2020

Relevant skills
 @ Broad public, private and 

government experience
 @ Strong connections with the UK 

and Scottish Governments
Current appointments

 @ Visit Scotland (chair)
 @ North Highland 

Regeneration Fund (chair)
 @ Ulbster Estates 

(Sporting) Limited 
 @ Ulbster Holdings Limited

3. Alyson Levett 

Non-Executive Director
Appointed: 14 January 2021

Relevant skills
 @ Strong knowledge of public 

sector companies within AIM
 @ Accounting and audit-related 

experience relevant for 
AIM companies

Current appointments
 @ i-nexus Global plc 
 @ i-Solutions Global Ltd

4. Adam Park
Non-Executive Director
Appointed: 27 October 2016

Relevant skills
 @ COO of Renaissance Capital 

Partners, a family office focused 
on investing in disruptive 
technologies

Current appointments
 @ Clearpath Consultancy Limited

5. Kevin Brundish
Chief Executive Officer
Appointed: 10 June 2014

Relevant skills
 @ 20+ years focused on energy-

related companies, both large 
multinationals and SME growth 
companies

Current appointments
 @ Bardan Cells Ltd
 @ MEP Technologies Limited

6. Adam Westcott
Chief Financial Officer
Appointed: 16 December 2020 

Relevant skills
 @ Qualified accountant with 20+ 

years of financial experience 
across accounting, corporate 
advisory and fundraising
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Board of Directors

James Hobson joined the Board on 4 October 2021 as CFO designate.
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Directors’ interests and their remuneration

The Directors who served during the year and during the period up until the signing of these financial statements were:

Director Title Appointed

David Morgan Independent Non-Executive Chair 14 April 2020
Rt Hon Viscount Thurso PC Senior Independent Director 1 June 2020
Alyson Levett Non-Executive Director 14 January 2021
Adam Park Non-Executive Director 27 October 2016
Nicholas Briers Non-Executive Director 5 December 2019 *
Paul Tillett Non-Executive Director 6 November 2015 *
Kevin Brundish Chief Executive Officer 10 June 2014
Adam Westcott Chief Financial Officer 16 December 2020 **
James Hobson Director 4 October 2021

*  Resigned 16 December 2020.

** The Group announced in April 2021 that Adam Westcott was leaving the Group to take up a new role.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, a Director appointed during or after the year must stand for reappointment at the 
first annual general meeting after such appointment. Further, any Director who was not elected or re-elected at either of the two preceding 
annual general meetings must stand for reappointment at the annual general meeting. As this is the first year as a publicly listed company all 
of the Directors bar Adam Westcott, who is leaving the business, are standing for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Directors’ service contracts
David Morgan’s services as Chair and Non-Executive Director are provided under a service agreement dated 1 March 2021 for an indefinite 
term, subject to a minimum of three months’ notice. Under this agreement, he is entitled to a Director’s fee of £50,000 per annum.

Kevin Brundish’s services as Chief Executive Officer and Director are provided under a service agreement dated 1 March 2021. Under this 
agreement, Kevin is entitled to a salary of £115,000 per annum plus a pension contribution.

Adam Westcott’s services as Chief Financial Officer and Director are provided under an employment contract dated 1 March 2021 for an indefinite 
term, subject to a minimum of six months’ notice. Adam is entitled to a salary of £110,000 per annum plus participation in the defined 
contribution pension scheme.

Viscount Thurso’s services as a Non-Executive Director are provided under a service agreement dated 1 March 2021 for an indefinite term, subject to 
a minimum of three months’ notice. Viscount Thurso is entitled to a Director’s fee of £25,000 per annum, and is paid through a company.

Alyson Levett’s services as a Non-Executive Director are provided under a service agreement dated 1 March 2021 for an indefinite term, 
subject to a minimum of three months’ notice. Alyson is entitled to a Director’s fee of £25,000 per annum.

Adam Park’s services as a Non-Executive Director are provided under a service agreement dated 1 March 2021 for an indefinite term, subject to a 
minimum of three months’ notice. Adam is entitled to a Director’s fee of £25,000 per annum, and is paid through a company.

James Hobson’s services as Director are provided under an employment contract dated 4 October 2021 for an indefinite term, subject to a 
minimum of six months’ notice. James is entitled to a salary of £120,000 per annum plus participation in the defined contribution pension scheme.

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate 
governance and has taken steps to comply with the principles of 
the best practice relative to its size. Disclosures have been made 
in accordance with the requirements for companies with securities 
listed on the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange, which 
are exempt from the disclosure requirements of the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report Regulations 2013 and the UKLA Listing Rules 
and the disclosure provisions under schedule 8 to SI 2008/410 of 
the Large and Medium-sized companies and Groups (Accounts 
and Reports) Regulations 2008.



AMTE Power plc | Annual report and accounts 202128

1 2 3 4Governance

Directors’ remuneration
The remuneration policy has been designed to ensure that Executive Directors receive appropriate incentive and reward given their performance, responsibility and experience. When assessing this, the 
Remuneration Committee seeks to ensure that the policy aligns the interests of the Executive Directors with those of shareholders. The remuneration policy for Executive Directors is to:

 @ consider the individual’s experience and the nature, complexity and responsibilities of their work to set a competitive salary that attracts and retains management of the highest quality;

 @ link individual remuneration packages to the Group’s long-term performance through long-term share-based plans;

 @ provide post-retirement benefits through payment into defined contribution pension schemes; and

 @ provide employment-related benefits including company car and medical insurance.

The remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors is determined by the Executive members of the Board in consultation with the Chair, based on a review of current practices in other equivalent companies. Two of 
the Non-Executive Directors are paid through PAYE and also receive pension contributions; however, they do not participate in any of the bonus schemes. Remuneration is based on a fixed fee, and there were no 
additional consulting services.

Name Salary/fee Bonus Other
Total 

compensation

Share-based 
payment
expense

Group pension
 contribution

Total – 
30 June 2021

Total – 
30 June 2020** 

David Morgan*** £36,667 — — £36,667 — — £36,667 £6,385

Rt Hon Viscount Thurso PC £16,333 — — £16,333 — — £16,333 £1,000

Alyson Levett £9,795 — — £9,795 — £188 £9,982 —

Adam Park* £16,333 — — £16,333 — — £16,333 £15,000

Nicholas Briers  
(resigned 16 Dec 2020) £6,000 — — £6,000 — — £6,000 £7,000

Paul Tillett  
(resigned 16 Dec 2020) £45,000 — — £45,000 — £1,350 £46,350 £98,700

Kevin Brundish £107,500 — — £107,500 £36,488 £3,225 £147,213 £128,750

Adam Westcott  
(appointed 16 Dec 2020) £55,000 — — £55,000 £220,605 £1,650 £277,255 —

Total £292,628 — — £292,628 £257,093 £6,413 £545,800 £256,835

* Paid through a company.

** 15-month period.

***  David Morgan subscribed for 286,715 shares at par value on 20 January 2021 which are, pursuant to the terms of a subscription agreement, subject to clawback by the Group on the occurrence of certain events prior to the second anniversary of his appointment as Chair of the Group.

The share-based payment included in the table above is the fair value of the share options that have vested during the period in accordance with the requirements set out under IFRS 2.

Directors’ interests and their remuneration continued
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Directors and their interests 
The beneficial interests of Directors and their families in the equity share capital of the Company at period end were:

30 June 2020 30 June 2021

David Morgan — 286,715
Adam Park** 25,263 25,263
Kevin Brundish* 2,085,200 1,980,940

*  On 20 January 2021, a bonus issue took place where all shareholders received 400 ordinary shares for each ordinary share they held.

** Holding through Clearpath Consultancy Limited.

On 30 June 2021 the Directors’ interests over options were:

30 June 2020
Options granted

in years
Options exercised

in year 30 June 2021 Exercise price
Date from which

exercisable Expiry date Type

Kevin Brundish — 78,195 — 78,195 £0.73 16 Dec 2020 15 Dec 2030 EMI Option
Adam Westcott 108,671 — — 108,671 £0.63 12 Oct 2018 11 Oct 2028 EMI Option
Adam Westcott 247,417 — — 247,417 £0.73 1 May 2020 30 April 2030 EMI Option
Adam Westcott — 200,500 — 200,500 £0.73 16 Dec 2020 15 Dec 2030 Unapproved Option

All of the above options vested following the admission of the Company’s shares to AIM. The exercise prices were adjusted in January 2021 to take account of the bonus issue of 400 shares for each Ordinary Share held.

None of the other Directors had a direct interest over share capital during the reporting period.

Directors’ interests and their remuneration continued
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The role of the Board
The Board is responsible for the overall management of the Group, 
including the formulation and approval of the Group’s long-term 
objectives and strategy, the approval of budgets, the oversight of 
Group operations, the maintenance of sound internal control and 
risk management systems and the implementation of Group strategy, 
policies and plans. While the Board may delegate specific responsibilities, 
there is a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved for 
decision by the Board. Such reserved matters include, amongst other 
things, approval of significant capital expenditure, material business 
contracts and major corporate transactions. The Board meets 
regularly to review performance. 

With effect from admission, the Board established an audit and 
risk committee (the “Audit & Risk Committee”) and a remuneration 
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”). Given the size of the 
Board, it does not intend to establish a separate nominations 
committee and recommendations for appointments to the Board 
will be considered by the Board as a whole after due evaluation. 

The Board has delegated the day-to-day management to the 
Chief Executive Officer.

The table below shows the number of Board and Committee 
meetings of the Group held during the year, and the attendance 
of the individual Directors.

Board 
Audit & Risk
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Chair David Morgan Alyson Levett Viscount Thurso
David Morgan 14/14 3/3 2/2
Viscount Thurso 14/14 3/3 2/2
Alyson Levett 
(joined 14 January 2021) 9/14 3/3 1/2
Adam Park 14/14 3/3 2/2
Paul Tillett  
(resigned 16 Dec 2020) 5/14 — —
Nicholas Briers  
(resigned 16 Dec 2020) 5/14 — —
Kevin Brundish 14/14 — —
Adam Westcott  
(joined 16 Dec 2020) 9/14 — —
James Hobson  
(joined 4 Oct 2021) — — —

The Board is responsible 
for the overall management 
of the Group.” 

David Morgan
Independent Non-Executive Chair

Corporate governance report

Audit & Risk Committee
The Audit & Risk Committee is chaired by Alyson Levett. Its other 
members are Viscount Thurso, David Morgan and Adam Park. The 
Audit & Risk Committee will have primary responsibility for monitoring 
the quality of internal controls and ensuring that the financial 
performance of the Group is properly measured and reported on. 
It will receive and review reports from the Group’s management 
and auditors relating to the interim and annual accounts and the 
accounting and internal control systems in use throughout the Group. 

Further, the Audit & Risk Committee will advise the Board on the 
Group’s overall risk appetite and strategy including, inter alia, regularly 
reviewing and updating (if appropriate) the risk assessment processes in 
place, including in relation to remuneration and compliance functions, 
and assisting in overseeing implementation of the adopted strategy. 

The Audit & Risk Committee will meet at least twice a year and will 
have unrestricted access to the Group’s auditors.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee will be chaired by Viscount Thurso. Its 
other members will be David Morgan, Adam Park and Alyson Levett. 
The Remuneration Committee will make recommendations to the 
Board on matters relating to the remuneration and terms of employment 
of the Executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee will also 
make recommendations to the Board on proposals for the granting 
of share options and other equity incentives pursuant to any share 
option scheme or equity incentive scheme in operation from time to 
time. The remuneration and terms and conditions of appointment of 
the Non-Executive Directors of the Group will be set by the Board.

Make-up of the Group’s Committees

Director
Audit & Risk
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

David Morgan (NED) Member Member
Viscount Thurso (NED) Member Chair
Adam Park (NED) Member Member
Alyson Levett (NED) Chair Member
Kevin Brundish (CEO) Attendee Attendee
Adam Westcott (CFO) Attendee —
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Corporate governance report continued

Principles of the QCA Code
The sections below describe how the ten principles of the QCA Code are applied to deliver medium to long-term success without stifling innovation and entrepreneurial spirit, together with any areas of non-compliance.

Establish a strategy and 
business model that 
promote long-term value 
for shareholders

The Group has a stated strategy document developed by the executive team, which details the key aims and objectives of the business. This is subsequently approved by the Board.

The management team, led by the Chief Executive Officer, is responsible for implementing the strategy and managing the business at an operational level. As a result this document is 
further distilled into more detailed plans through which the business is managed on a day-to-day basis.

The principal objective is to develop battery cell technologies and target specialised, underserved markets. 

Seek to understand and 
meet shareholder needs 
and expectations

AMTE Power seeks to maintain a regular dialogue with both existing and potential shareholders to communicate strategy and progress, and to understand the needs and 
expectations of shareholders.

The annual general meeting of the Group provides the Directors with the opportunity to report to shareholders on current and proposed operations and developments, and enables 
shareholders to express their views of AMTE Power’s business activities.

Beyond the annual general meeting, the Chief Executive Officer and other members of the senior management team meet regularly with investors and analysts to provide them with 
updates on the business and to obtain feedback regarding the market’s expectations of AMTE Power.

AMTE Power’s investor relations activities encompass dialogue with both institutional and private investors and are co-ordinated by the Chief Executive Officer. 

Take into account wider 
stakeholder and social 
responsibilities and 
their implications for 
long-term success

The technology and future products being generated by the Group have a significant strategic role as the world moves towards net zero carbon targets. 

In order to achieve this and align it with our long-term goals we engage across all of our stakeholders, including government, suppliers and customers, to help develop a suitable 
environment through which these technologies and solutions are adopted on a large scale. To this end we seek to actively participate in trade associations, global lobbying groups 
and government forums. 

The Board is aware of its corporate social responsibilities and the need to maintain effective working relationships across a range of stakeholder groups. These include employees, 
clients, suppliers and shareholders. The Group’s operations and working methodologies aim to balance the needs of these stakeholder groups while maintaining focus on the Board’s 
primary responsibility to promote the success of AMTE Power for the benefit of its members as a whole.

Embed effective risk 
management, considering 
both opportunities and 
threats, throughout the 
organisation

The Group currently utilises a mixture of strategy plans and business plans to derive the key focuses of the business and the direction it should head in. The Group continues to evolve 
its risk management processes to align them and the business with the strategy laid out for it. 

The Group has established an Audit & Risk Committee that will oversee, amongst other things, the risks facing the Group and the effectiveness of the systems seeking to manage and 
mitigate those risks. It is through this set-up that the business seeks to evolve the risk management processes and framework it currently operates.

Maintain the Board as a 
well-functioning, balanced 
team led by the Chair

The objective is to maintain a Board balanced between Executive and Non-Executive Directors with an appropriate mix between technology, engineering, governance and commercial 
experience. 

The Board has a healthy split of NEDs (four, of which three are independent) and EDs (two). The Board includes an independent Non-Executive Chair who is responsible for leadership 
of the Board and ensuring all aspects of its role. The Board meets regularly and is provided with information on a timely basis. It also seeks to develop and improve the information flow 
of the business to better inform it of the progress, challenges and opportunities it faces. The Board has established Committees covering audit and risk and remuneration and as 
required a nominations committee.

The Board considers itself to be sufficiently independent and adheres to the QCA Code recommendation that a board should have at least two independent non-executive directors.



AMTE Power plc | Annual report and accounts 202132

1 2 3 4Governance

Ensure that, between 
them, the Directors 
have the necessary 
up-to-date experience, 
skills and capabilities

The Board has a broad experience of sector, financial and public market skills, with three individuals all having served on public companies in the past. 

The Board considers that the Non-Executive Directors are of sufficient competence and calibre to add strength and objectivity to its activities, and bring considerable experience in 
scientific, operational and financial development of clean technology products and companies.

The Board fully subscribes to the principle of diversity across the Board and the wider business, and endeavours to make sure that actions across the business continue to support 
the Board’s commitment to diversity.

The Board regularly reviews the composition of the Board to ensure that it has the necessary breadth and depth of skills to support the ongoing development of the Group. The Chair, 
in conjunction with the Chief Executive Officer, ensures that the Directors’ knowledge is kept up to date on key issues and developments, its operational environment and the 
Directors’ responsibilities as members of the Board.

Evaluate Board 
performance based 
on clear and relevant 
objectives, seeking 
continuous improvement

The Chair reviews and appraises the performance of the Directors to determine the effectiveness and performance of each member with regards to their specific roles as well as 
their role as a Board member in general.

The appraisal system seeks to identify areas of concern and make recommendations for any training or development to enable the Board member to meet their objectives.

As well as the appraisal process, the Board monitors the Non-Executive Directors’ independence to ensure that a suitable balance of independent Non-Executive and Executive 
Directors remains in place. 

Promote a corporate 
culture that is based on 
ethical values and behaviours

The Board and the Group have a continued emphasis on setting clear and strong cultural values that are based on sound ethical values and behaviours. 

This is established through the actions of the Board and the SMT, and also embodied within the employee handbook.

The Board seeks to maintain the highest standards of integrity and probity in the conduct of the Group’s operations. There is zero tolerance to all forms of discrimination.

Maintain governance 
structures and processes 
that are fit for purpose 
and support good decision 
making by the Board

The Group has established governance structures and processes that are suitable for a company of its size and complexity.

The Board has overall responsibility for promoting the success of the Group.

 @ The Non-Executive Directors are responsible for bringing independent and objective judgement to Board decisions. There is a clear separation of the roles of Chief Executive 
Officer and Non-Executive Chair.

 @ The Chair is responsible for overseeing the running of the Board, ensuring that no individual or group dominates the Board’s decision making and ensuring the Non-Executive 
Directors are properly briefed on matters. The Chair has overall responsibility for corporate governance matters. 

The Executive Directors have day-to-day responsibility for the operational management of the activities. The Chief Executive Officer has overall responsibility for implementing the 
strategy of the Board and managing day-to-day business activities. 

Communicate how the 
Company is governed 
and is performing by 
maintaining a dialogue 
with shareholders and 
other relevant stakeholders

The Group has typically sought to engage with its shareholders on a regular basis twice a year, through meetings where it will demonstrate the progress of its technology and report 
on key metrics (financial and non-financial).

The Group has also retained two communication firms, one focused on industry and trade relationships and one focused on investor and shareholder relationships, to ensure that 
there are clear communication strategies to the various stakeholders. The Group also continually reviews its IR strategy and the coverage it has from analysts within the market.

The Board has also established an informal Publicity & Disclosures sub-committee to monitor and manage the information going out to ensure that a consistent message is provided 
to stakeholders. The Group also has the publicity guidelines in place to guide this group.

Corporate governance report continued

Principles of the QCA Code continued
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QCA Corporate Governance Code
The Board is committed to achieving high standards of governance 
commensurate with the size and stage of development. As an 
AIM-listed company, the principles of the Quoted Companies Alliance 
Corporate Governance Code (the “QCA Code”) have been adopted 
taking in to account the stage of development, resources available 
and the size of the Group. 

The QCA Code recommends at least two members of the Board are 
Non-Executive Directors determined by the Board to be independent. 
The Board currently comprises six Directors, of whom two are 
Executive and four are Non-Executive. The Board considers three of 
the Non-Executives, being David Morgan, Rt Hon Viscount Thurso PC 
and Alyson Levett, to be independent and, as such, the Group 
complies with the requirements of the QCA Code in this regard. 

In accordance with the QCA Code, the Board has appointed Viscount 
Thurso to be the Senior Independent Director. The Senior Independent 
Director should be available to shareholders if they have concerns 
over an issue that the normal channels of communication (through 
the Chair, the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer) 
have failed to resolve or for which such channels of communication 
are inappropriate. 

The QCA Code identifies ten principles to be followed to deliver 
growth in long-term shareholder value by ensuring that the 
management framework is efficient, effective and dynamic, 
supported by good stakeholder communication to promote 
confidence and trust.

Employees
The Group’s organisational structure has been clearly documented and 
communicated identifying levels of responsibility, delegated authority 
and reporting procedures, to provide clear guidance to employees. 
The professionalism and competence of employees is maintained 
through recruitment, performance appraisal, written job 
descriptions, personal training and development plans.

The Board supports the highest levels of commitment values, 
appropriate behaviour and integrity from employees. Expected 
standards of behaviour are set out in the Employee Handbook, a copy 
of which is available to all employees. The Group is an equal 

opportunities employer and it is our policy to ensure that all job 
applicants and employees are treated fairly and on merit, regardless of 
their race, gender, marital status, age, disability, religious belief or sexual 
orientation. In common with many organisations we operate a 
performance appraisal system, the aim of which is to support 
employees to contribute fully to the organisation and to assist them to 
fulfil their potential. The Group encourages the involvement of its 
employees in its performance through its EMI Option plan.

Relations with shareholders
The Board considers effective communication with shareholders to 
be very important and encourages regular dialogue with investors. 
Shareholders will be given at least 21 days’ notice of the annual 
general meeting, at which they will have the opportunity to discuss 
the Group’s development and performance. The Group’s website, 
www.amtepower.com, contains full details of the Group’s activities, 
strategy, products, press releases, Regulatory News Service 
announcements, share price details and other information.

Maintenance of a sound system of internal control
The Directors have overall responsibility for ensuring that the 
Group maintains a system of internal control to provide them with a 
reasonable assurance that the assets of the Group are safeguarded, 
and that shareholders’ investments are protected. The system 
includes internal controls appropriate for a company of the size of 
AMTE Power, and covers financial, operational, compliance (including 
health and safety) controls and risk management. Such systems are 
designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to 
achieve business objectives; any system can provide only reasonable, 
and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss. 

The process in place for reviewing AMTE Power’s system of internal 
control includes procedures designed to identify and evaluate failings 
and weaknesses, and to ensure that necessary action is taken to 
remedy the failings. The Board has considered its policies regarding 
internal controls, as set out in the Code, and undertakes assessments 
of the major areas of the business and methods used to monitor 
and control them. In addition to financial risk, the review covers 
operational, commercial, regulatory and health and safety risks. The 
risk review is an ongoing process with reviews being undertaken on 

a regular basis. The key procedures designed to provide an effective 
system of internal controls that are operating up to the date of 
sign-off of this report are set out below.

Control environment
There is an organisational structure with clearly defined lines of 
responsibility and delegation of accountability and authority.

David Morgan
Independent Non-Executive Chair
14 October 2021

Corporate governance report continued
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Audit & Risk Committee report
Inaugural meeting of the Committee 

The Audit & Risk Committee met three times during the year to 
30 June 2021 including its inaugural meeting in March 2021. During 
these meetings consideration was given to the interim financial statements 
for the half year to 30 December 2021 and the audit strategy for the 
Group’s first audit coming for the year to 30 June 2021. A further 
meeting was held in September 2021 with regard to the Annual 
Report, financial disclosures and other relevant accounting matters 
for the Group. The Committee also considered the impact of existing 
standards on the Annual Report of the Group, as well as the risk 
assessment and management processes within the business.

Other areas to which the Audit & Risk Committee paid specific regard 
to are:

 @ the performance of the finance function;

 @ reviewing the Audit & Risk Committee Terms of Reference; and

 @ reviewing the Risk Register. 

A summary of the areas in which the Audit & Risk Committee was required 
to exercise judgement is detailed below, with further explanation and 
detail provided in the notes to the financial statements: 

 @ going concern;

 @ impairment of assets;

 @ recoverability of internally generated intangible assets covering 
both the IP Rights and the Battery Development Costs;

 @ IFRS 16 “Leases”; and

 @ grant and revenue recognition.

Role of the Audit & Risk Committee
The Audit & Risk Committee has primary responsibility for assessing 
and monitoring the quality of the controls present within the business 
and ensuring that the financial performance of the Group is properly 
measured and reported on. The Committee receives and reviews 
reports from both the Group’s management and auditors relating to 
the interim and annual accounts.

In addition, the Committee considers the processes and methodologies 
within the business for managing and mitigating risk and advises the 
Board on the Group’s overall risk appetite and strategy.

The Audit & Risk Committee will meet at least three times a year and 
has unrestricted access to the Group’s auditors.

Challenges faced by the business
With the twin challenges of recruitment after Brexit and working 
practices due to COVID-19 over the last few years creating certain 
challenges for the business, the Committee spent some time assessing 
the impact on the businesses strategy and its status as a going concern. 
The Committee judged that following the recent IPO and the subsequent 
investment in people the business’ fundamentals remain strong and 
the Group has been able to overcome these challenges. It therefore 
does not believe that these will materially affect the business.

The Audit & Risk Committee will, however, continue to monitor these 
challenges. Risks impacting the business are identified elsewhere in 
this Annual Report.

Alyson Levett
Chair, Audit & Risk Committee 

Committee members
 @ Alyson Levett (Chair)

 @ David Morgan

 @ Rt Hon Viscount Thurso PC

 @ Adam Park
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External auditors
The external audit function plays an important part in assessing the 
effectiveness of financial reporting and internal controls. In turn, the 
effectiveness and quality of the external audit is of key importance, 
including ensuring that sufficient weight is given to new areas of 
compliance, such as International Financial Reporting Standard 
(“IFRS”) 1 (for the first year) 9, 15 and 16 and IAS 32 and 38, and 
existing areas of risk as is deemed appropriate for the relative size 
and complexity of the Group’s activities. Our Auditors, Saffery 
Champness LLP, have been in place since the beginning of 2021.

There are no contractual restrictions on the choice of the external 
auditors. The Audit & Risk Committee reviews the Auditors’ 
independence and annual fees to ensure they are in line with market 
rates. The Committee also closely monitors the nature and level of 
any non-audit services provided, with a policy that such work is not 
placed with the current auditors of the business. Details of fees paid/
payable to the auditors are set out in note 6. 

The Audit & Risk Committee has recommended to the Board the 
reappointment of Saffery Champness for the year 2022.

Finally, the Audit & Risk Committee gave due consideration to the 
adequacy of its whistleblowing procedures and the ongoing engagement 
of Saffery Champness, their independence, associated remuneration 
and non-audit fees.

Responsibility of the Committee
The responsibility of the Committee includes:

 @ monitoring the integrity of the financial statements of the Group, 
including its annual and half-yearly reports, interim management 
statements, preliminary announcements and any other formal 
announcement relating to its financial performance;

 @ reviewing the content of the Annual Report and Accounts and 
advising the Board on whether, taken as a whole, it is fair, balanced 
and understandable and provides the information necessary for 
shareholders to assess the Group’s performance, business model 
and strategy;

 @ reviewing the adequacy and security of the Group’s arrangements 
for its employees and contractors to raise concerns, in confidence, 
about possible wrongdoing in financial reporting or other matters; 

 @ considering and making recommendations to the Board, to be put 
to shareholders for approval at the annual general meeting, in 
relation to the appointment, reappointment and removal of the 
Group’s external auditors;

 @ ensuring that, at least once every ten years, the audit services 
contract is put out to tender to enable the Committee to compare 
the quality and effectiveness of the services provided by the 
incumbent auditors with those of other audit firms; 

 @ advising the Board on the Group’s overall risk appetite, tolerance 
and strategy, taking account of the current and prospective 
macroeconomic and financial environment and drawing on 
financial stability assessments such as those published by relevant 
industry and regulatory authorities; and

 @ reviewing the status of the Group’s Risk Register, and making 
recommendations where appropriate on the mitigating actions 
being taken.

The external auditors, Saffery Champness LLP, have unrestricted 
access to the Chair of the Audit & Risk Committee. Audit & Risk 
Committee meetings are also attended by the external auditors where 
appropriate and, by invitation, the Chief Executive Officer, Chief 
Financial Officer and where appropriate other members of senior 
management.

Alyson Levett
Chair, Audit & Risk Committee

The external audit function 
plays an important part in 
assessing the effectiveness 
of financial reporting and 
internal controls.”

Audit & Risk Committee report continued
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Remuneration Committee report
Aligning with best practice oversight

The Remuneration Committee was formed in October 2020 and 
comprises the Group’s independent Non-Executive Directors, the 
Rt Hon Viscount Thurso PC, David Morgan, Adam Park and (since 
January 2021) Alyson Levett. The Rt Hon Viscount Thurso PC chairs 
the Remuneration Committee.

The roles and responsibilities of the Committee are as follows:
 @ reviewing and recommending to the Board remuneration policies 

which motivate Directors and support the delivery of business 
objectives in the short, medium and long term;

 @ aligning the interests of Executive Directors and senior 
management team with the interests of long-term shareholders;

 @ ensuring the Group can recruit and retain high quality executives 
through packages which are fair and attractive, but not excessive.

The Committee is responsible for reviewing and recommending to 
the Board remuneration policies and levels for the Board and 
management team of the Group, including (but not limited to) salary, 
pension, share options, bonus payments and other benefits packages 
as may be offered from time to time. 

The Committee meets (a minimum of) two times a year.

Key focus areas for 2020/21
 @ Initial benchmarking exercise of Executive and Non-Executive 

Directors’ salaries.

 @ Generation of Executive remuneration policy.

 @ Review of Executive and Non-Executive Directors’ salaries and 
alignment against Executive remuneration policy and 
benchmarking exercise.

 @ Review of Executive benefits packages against 
benchmarking exercise.

Key focus areas for 2021/22
 @ Commissioning of a detailed benchmarking exercise on Executive 

salaries and benefits packages.

 @ Update remuneration policy.

 @ Review of Executive salaries and alignment against policy and 
benchmarking activities.

 @ Establish a Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) package for 
Executives in line with remuneration policy and benchmarking 
exercise.

Rt Hon Viscount Thurso PC
Chair, Remuneration Committee

Rt Hon Viscount Thurso PC
Chair, Remuneration Committee

Committee members
 @ Rt Hon Viscount Thurso PC (Chair)

 @ David Morgan

 @ Adam Park

 @ Alyson Levett
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The Directors present their Annual Report and audited financial 
statements for AMTE Power plc (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(the “Group”), together with the financial statements and auditors’ 
report, for the year ended 30 June 2021.

The Directors believe that the financial statements are fair, balanced 
and understandable. 

Principal activity and review of business developments
The principal activity of AMTE Power is the development of lithium-
ion and lithium-ion derivative battery cells to meet the needs of 
specialist customers. Such customers, which include manufacturers 
of high performance vehicles and specialist equipment, are not the 
primary focus of the international battery cell manufacturers.

Reviews of operations, business developments and current projects 
are included in the Operational review.

Results and dividend
The results for the year are set out in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. No dividends were paid in the year. The 
Directors do not intend to declare a dividend in respect of the year.

Board changes
Details of changes to the membership of the Board are disclosed 
within the Directors’ interests and their remuneration.

Capital structure
Details of the Group’s capital structure are provided in notes 29 and 30 
to the financial statements. Shareholder funds have been used for 
the development and testing of battery cells.

On 30 September 2021, the Group was aware of the following 
holdings of 3% or more in the issued share capital of AMTE Power:

Shareholder
No. of

shares

Percentage 
of Company’s 

issued share 
capital

Carl Maine 3,767,395 10.7%
Renaissance Capital Partners1 2,271,264 6.4%
Steven Farmer 2,203,034 6.2%
Ian Whiting 2,203,034 6.2%
Kevin Brundish 1,980,940 5.6%
Thames Temese Management 
Limited as Trustee of the 
Thames Trust 1,877,883 5.3%
Lombard Odier 1,496,994 4.2%
John Kinder2 1,388,262 3.9%
Simon Philpot 1,152,324 3.3%

1   Includes ordinary shares held by Renaissance Capital Partners Ltd, Kenneth Randall and 
Morgan Lloyd SIPP Trustees as Trustees of the MLSS Ltd SIPP Re Randall K (but not 
Adam Park whose shareholding is held through Clearpath Consultancy Limited). 

2 Held in the name of “Dentons SIPP J M Kinder”. 

Kevin Brundish
Chief Executive Officer

Directors’ report
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Directors’ report continued

Financial instruments
Financial instruments are disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements.

Political and charitable donations
Charitable donations in the year amounted to £nil (2020: £nil).

Information disclosed in the Strategic report
The following matters required to be disclosed in this report under 
the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and 
Reports) Regulations 2008 are covered in the Strategic Report section.

Payments to creditors
The Group’s policy is to settle the terms of payment with its suppliers 
when agreeing the terms of each transaction, either by accepting the 
suppliers’ terms or by making the suppliers aware of alternative 
terms, and to abide by the agreed terms. Trade creditors of the Group 
at 30 June 2021 represented 73 days (2020: 57 days) of annual purchases.

Liability insurance for Company officers
The Group maintains Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance cover 
for its Directors and officers to the extent permitted under the 
Companies Act 2006.

Research and development
The Group invests substantially in research and development and 
makes claims under the Government’s R&D tax credit scheme. In the 
year to 30 June 2021, relevant qualifying expenditure has been 
estimated at £1.6m (2020: £1.6m).

Companies Act 2006, Section 172(1) Directors Statement - Promoting 
the Success of the Company (to be read in conjunction with the rest 
of the Annual Report and with the Corporate Governance section).

The Board acknowledges that there is a legal requirement for the 
Group to report on how the Board and its Committees have 
considered the requirements of s.172 of the Companies Act 2006 in 
their decision making. A director of a company must act in the way he 
considers, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the success 
of the company for the benefit of its members and, in doing so, have 
regard (amongst other matters) to the following factors:

 @ the likely consequences of any decision on the long term;

 @ the interests of the company’s employees;

 @ the need to foster the company’s business relationships with 
suppliers, customers and others;

 @ the impact of the company’s operations on the community and 
the environment;

 @ the desirability of the company maintaining a reputation for high 
standards of business conduct; and

 @ the need to act fairly as between members of the company.

The Board is ultimately responsible for the direction, management, 
performance and long-term sustainable success of the Group. It sets 
the Group’s strategy and objectives, considering the interests of all 
its stakeholders. A good understanding of the Group’s stakeholders 
enables the Board to factor the potential impact of strategic decisions 
on each stakeholder group into boardroom discussions. By considering 
the Group’s purpose, vision and values together with its strategic 
priorities the Board aims to make sure that its decisions are fair. The 
Board has always, both collectively and individually, taken decisions 
for the long term and consistently aims to uphold the highest 
standards of business conduct. Board resolutions are always 
determined with reference to the interests of the Group’s employees, its 
business relationships with suppliers and customers, and the impact 
of its operations on communities and the environment.

The Board is ultimately 
responsible for the 
direction, management, 
performance and 
long-term sustainable 
success of the Group.”
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Research and development continued
During the year, the key decisions taken by the Board included: 

 @ decision to list on AIM, completed in March 2021; 

 @ closure of the London office during the COVID pandemic to ensure 
employee safety; and 

 @ signed HOTs to establish JV in Australia.

Going concern
The Group had unrestricted cash of £9.3m at 30 June 2021 
(2020: £1.0m).

The Directors have prepared a cash flow forecast for the period 
ending 30 June 2023. This forecast indicates that the Group and 
parent company, based upon the available cash resources and 
commercial agreements currently held by the Group as well as the 
pipeline of opportunities it has developed, have sufficient existing 
funds to meet payment obligations as and when they fall due. 

The Group currently consumes cash resources and will continue 
to do so until sales revenues are sufficiently high to generate net 
cash inflows. The Directors are aware that the transition to product 
delivery can consume significant resources, and as such the Directors 
continue to monitor the product development programme for any 
impact on future expected cash flows. The Directors performed 
sensitivities to ensure that the cash was sufficient for the going 
concern opinion, these sensitivities were based on the following 
views: a general rise in costs across the business (driven primarily by 
labour wage rises and tighter supply chains in battery cell sector); 
reduced development income; and lower than expected prototype 
and product sales.

The Group expects to remain cash positive without the requirement 
for further fund raising based on delivering the existing strategy for 
a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of these 
financial statements. 

The accounts have therefore been prepared on a going concern basis.

Events after the reporting period
After the reporting date:

 @ the Group announced the signing of the shareholder agreement to 
formalise the joint venture with InfraNomics in Australia.

Auditors
A resolution to reappoint the Auditor of the Group, Saffery 
Champness LLP, will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general 
meeting. Saffery Champness LLP has expressed its willingness to 
continue as Auditor of the Group.

This report was approved by the Board on 14 October 2021 and signed 
on its behalf by:

Kevin Brundish
Chief Executive Officer
14 October 2021

The Group had 
unrestricted cash of 
£9.3m at 30 June 2021.”

Directors’ report continued
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Section 172 statement 
Stakeholder engagement

Governance

Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 requires Directors to take into consideration the interests of stakeholders and other matters in their 
decision making. The Directors continue to have regard to the interests of the Group’s employees and wider stakeholders, including the 
impact of its activities on the community, the environment and the Group’s reputation, when making decisions.

The Board regularly reviews the Group’s principal stakeholders and how it engages with them alongside the Group’s dedicated PR and IR 
consultants and through its retained brokers. 

This is achieved through information provided by management and also by direct engagement with stakeholders themselves. 

Investors Employees Community and environment 

Aim
To communicate and secure support for our long-term strategic 
objectives effectively and to promote long-term holdings. 

Aim
To deliver our long-term strategic objectives and meet our near 
term targets. To promote our culture, purpose and values and 
support their well-being whilst maintaining low turnover and high 
productivity rates. 

Aim
To ensure activities are socially and environmentally responsible 
and meet the highest standards. 

Engagement Mechanism
Given the Group has only just been through its IPO the main 
mechanism in the period was through the admission document, 
investor meetings and analyst presentations. Ongoing the Group 
will continue communication through the AGM, analyst presentations, 
institutional investor presentations, capital markets day for institutions 
and retail investors and the use of digital platforms including 
Investor Meet and Directors Talk to extend reach to retail investors.

Engagement Mechanism
Transparent cascading of Key Performance Measures that link 
directly to Group objectives. Yearly performance evaluations with 
objective setting and reviews including behaviours against the 
Group’s values. Formal policies and procedures to provide 
strong governance. The Group also has a safety first policy.

The Group also has a reward mechanism in the form of bonus’ 
and option schemes.

Engagement Mechanism
AMTE have a number of Science, Technology Engineering, and 
Mathematics (STEM) ambassadors who work with local schools 
and colleges particularly in the highlands of Scotland. Students 
are encouraged to work with AMTE on collaborative projects and 
gain work experience with the Group as part of their personal 
development. The Group is currently training students and 
employees of a Scottish University to develop skills to support 
battery research. During the COVID-19 pandemic the Group 
supplied spare PPE to local health professionals and manufactured 
face shield components using its 3D printing capability via a local 
collective. The Group is currently working with Highland And 
Islands Enterprise to develop flexible batteries for us in PPE to 
support the long term fight against COVID-19.

Achievements in period
Through strong stakeholder communication the Group 
successfully listed on AIM in March 2021 with an oversubscribed 
fundraising of £13.9 million (£12.9 million to the Group). 

Achievements in period
The Group maintained the majority of its operations throughout 
the COVID-19 lockdown through a combination of home working 
(backed up by DSE assessments) and safe working procedures 
(fully risk-assessed) including mask wearing and social distancing 
policies when required to work on Group premises.

The Group continued to make progress in line with expectations.

Achievements in period
Acceptance of the London Stock Exchange Green Economy 
Classification and Mark awarded to companies that contribute to 
the global green economy. Development of battery products 
which are pivotal to meeting. 

Active relationships with local college, manufacturing new masks 
to NHS Trusts.
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Investors Employees Community and environment 

Aim
To communicate and secure support for our long-term strategic 
objectives effectively and to promote long-term holdings. 

Aim
To deliver our long-term strategic objectives and meet our near 
term targets. To promote our culture, purpose and values and 
support their well-being whilst maintaining low turnover and high 
productivity rates. 

Aim
To ensure activities are socially and environmentally responsible 
and meet the highest standards. 

Engagement Mechanism
Given the Group has only just been through its IPO the main 
mechanism in the period was through the admission document, 
investor meetings and analyst presentations. Ongoing the Group 
will continue communication through the AGM, analyst presentations, 
institutional investor presentations, capital markets day for institutions 
and retail investors and the use of digital platforms including 
Investor Meet and Directors Talk to extend reach to retail investors.

Engagement Mechanism
Transparent cascading of Key Performance Measures that link 
directly to Group objectives. Yearly performance evaluations with 
objective setting and reviews including behaviours against the 
Group’s values. Formal policies and procedures to provide 
strong governance. The Group also has a safety first policy.

The Group also has a reward mechanism in the form of bonus’ 
and option schemes.

Engagement Mechanism
AMTE have a number of Science, Technology Engineering, and 
Mathematics (STEM) ambassadors who work with local schools 
and colleges particularly in the highlands of Scotland. Students 
are encouraged to work with AMTE on collaborative projects and 
gain work experience with the Group as part of their personal 
development. The Group is currently training students and 
employees of a Scottish University to develop skills to support 
battery research. During the COVID-19 pandemic the Group 
supplied spare PPE to local health professionals and manufactured 
face shield components using its 3D printing capability via a local 
collective. The Group is currently working with Highland And 
Islands Enterprise to develop flexible batteries for us in PPE to 
support the long term fight against COVID-19.

Achievements in period
Through strong stakeholder communication the Group 
successfully listed on AIM in March 2021 with an oversubscribed 
fundraising of £13.9 million (£12.9 million to the Group). 

Achievements in period
The Group maintained the majority of its operations throughout 
the COVID-19 lockdown through a combination of home working 
(backed up by DSE assessments) and safe working procedures 
(fully risk-assessed) including mask wearing and social distancing 
policies when required to work on Group premises.

The Group continued to make progress in line with expectations.

Achievements in period
Acceptance of the London Stock Exchange Green Economy 
Classification and Mark awarded to companies that contribute to 
the global green economy. Development of battery products 
which are pivotal to meeting. 

Active relationships with local college, manufacturing new masks 
to NHS Trusts.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

Governance

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report 
and financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 
International Financial Reporting Standards.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements 
for each financial period. Under that law the Directors have elected 
to prepare the financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted for use in the European 
Union. The financial statements are required by law to give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the profit or loss 
of the Group for that period. In preparing those financial statements, 
the Directors are required to:

 @ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

 @ make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

 @ state whether applicable accounting standards have been 
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and 
explained in the financial statements; and

 @ prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless 
it is inappropriate to presume that the Group will continue 
in business.

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above in 
preparing the financial statements.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting 
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the Group and enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are 
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence 
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud 
and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of 
the Group’s website (www.amtepower.com) and legislation in the 
United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of 
financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Statement of disclosure to Auditors
So far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information 
(as defined by section 418 of the Companies Act 2006) of which the 
Group’s Auditors is unaware, and each Director has taken all the steps 
that he ought to have taken as a Director in order to make himself 
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the 
Group’s Auditor are aware of that information. This confirmation is 
given and should be interpreted in accordance with section 418 of 
the Companies Act 2006.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of AMTE Power plc (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’) for the year ended 30 June 2021 which comprise the group statement of comprehensive income, 
the group and parent company statement of financial position, the group and company statement of changes in equity, the group statement of cash flows and the group and parent company notes to the financial 
statements, including significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements is applicable law and international accounting 
standards (IAS) in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in preparation of the parent company financial statements is applicable law 
and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), as applied in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act 2006. 

In our opinion:

The financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and of the parent company as at 30 June 2021 and of the group’s loss for the period then ended;

 @ the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IAS in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006; 

 @ the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 
2006; and

 @ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for 
the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. Our evaluation of the directors’ 
assessment of the group and the parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting included:

 @ obtaining, critically appraising and assessing for arithmetical accuracy the directors’ formal going concern assessment;

 @ reviewing projected cash flows and other available evidence to assess the ability of the company to continue in operation for at least 12 months from the date of signing this report;

 @ performing a sensitivity analysis on key assumptions underlying the directors’ going concern assessment, including the timing of commencement of production and the level of expenditure on development; and

 @ discussion of events after the reporting date with the directors to assess their impact on the going concern assumption, including comparison of the post year end cash balances to forecast positions.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group or the parent 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report.

Our approach to the audit
We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we obtained sufficient evidence to support our opinion on the financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the group, the accounting 
processes and controls, and the industry in which it operates. 

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. In particular, we looked at areas where the directors made subjective 
judgements, for example in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members continued

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant 
assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the 
audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter How our scope addressed this matter

Carrying value of Development Battery Cells
The Group is investing in its Development Battery Cells which are 
expected to deliver significant shareholder return in the form of 
revenue and profits. The carrying value of costs capitalised were 
£8,122,334. There is significant judgement as to: 

 @ the recoverable amount of the different battery cells being 
developed; 

 @ whether the development phase is complete; and 

 @ the asset life once complete.

The significance of capitalised development costs to the Group and 
the judgements involved regarding the recognition of development 
assets have led us to determine that this is a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures included the following:

 @ We corroborated a sample of costs being capitalised to purchase invoice, verifying the allocation of the cost to the 
battery cells

 @ We challenged the capitalisation of interest & amortisation of licences for IP Rights in accordance with the requirements 
of the accounting standards

 @ We considered whether it was appropriate for battery cell development costs to be capitalised, reviewing the eligibility 
against the criteria for capitalisation set out in IAS 38 Intangible Assets

 @ We reviewed minutes of meetings and correspondence pertaining to the projects being capitalised to confirm management’s 
judgement that the progress achieved in development met the recognition criteria of the accounting standards 

 @ We challenged management on the estimations adopted for recoverable amount and challenged the assumptions in the 
impairment review 

 @ We verified that no development products were complete, requiring the commencement of amortisation

Based on the procedures performed, we have not identified any material misstatement arising in the carrying value 
of capitalised development costs. 

Value of IP Rights and associated Patent Licence Obligations
The Group is carrying £12,875,775 in its intangible asset relating to 
IP Rights, and £16,864,548 associated licence liabilities. The carrying 
value of the IP Rights could be impaired were the IP to fail, leaving the 
group with a significant liability but without a viable asset to generate 
income from. 

Should any patent licence contracts be renegotiated, this may also 
have an adverse impact the value of the contractual rights.

As the value of IP Rights are a significant component of the balance 
sheet, we have identified this as a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures included the following:

 @ We reviewed the two IP licences and assessed the appropriateness of the present value modelling including key inputs 
such as the discount factor applied by management

 @ We reviewed management’s supporting calculations for accuracy 

 @ We corroborated any changes to the licence obligations to the underlying contracts and confirmed these were 
modelled correctly

 @ We ensured that the accounting policy in the financial statements was appropriate, in accordance with accounting 
standards, and was sufficiently clear to explain the position to users of the financial statements

Based on the procedures performed, we have not identified any material misstatements in relation to the carrying value 
of the IP rights.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members continued

Key Audit Matter How our scope addressed this matter

Revenue recognition
The group receives revenue from commercial contracts £687,287 
(2020: £802,520), which is recognised over the duration of fulfilment 
of the performance obligations inherent within the contracts. 

There is judgement involved in identifying the stage of completion of a 
performance obligation. Given the uncertainties involved, we have 
identified revenue recognition as a key audit matter. 

Our audit procedures included the following:

 @ We tested the recognition of revenue substantively to ensure it was recognised in line with the revenue recognition 
accounting policy and in accordance with applicable accounting standards. We looked at a sample of contracts from 
management’s income register, agreeing the performance obligations to milestones within the contracts and assessing 
the appropriateness of any accrued revenue on those contracts

 @ We reviewed management’s assessment of performance obligations satisfied and partially satisfied around the year end 
by review of correspondence, to ensure the revenue allocated to these performance obligations was recognised in the 
appropriate period and that revenue was complete and accurate at the year end, including accrued income

Based on the procedures performed, we conclude that revenue is appropriately recorded in the correct period. We have not 
identified any material misstatement arising from revenue recognition.

Going concern
The Group is investing cash in the development of its assets and its 
potential for future trading. It is not currently in a position to support 
itself for the long term through commercial trading alone. The Group’s 
main source of cash is forecast to be earned from a combination of its 
commercial operations and equity capital raises. The business model 
could fail and the Group could run out of cash before commercial 
operations are fully fledged as the group is establishing itself in 
the market. 

As the going concern assumption is fundamental to the preparation of 
the financial statements, we have identified this as a key audit matter. 

Our audit procedures are set out in the ‘Conclusions relating to going concern’ above.

We reviewed detailed cash flow forecasts prepared by management. We applied sensitivities and stress tested the 
forecasts for potential delays to product sales, as this was determined to be a key assumption.

We reviewed the levels of headroom available, comparing the cash requirements of planned development activities to 
complete products with available working capital and the timing of expected inflows from product sales.

Based on the procedures performed, we concur that management’s assessment that the group and company are a going 
concern is appropriate. 

Our application of materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of the consolidated financial statements. 

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, as set out below. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the 
scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, if any, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole. 

We applied a group materiality of £460,000. This was based on 2% of gross assets as at 30 June 2021. Performance materiality was set at 75% of materiality. 

Our trivial level was set at £23,000 which is 5% of planning materiality, and any uncorrected audit differences below this level were not reported to management, unless warranted under 
qualitative grounds.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

Key audit matters continued
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Independent auditor’s report to the members continued

Other information continued
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit 
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the 
financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

 @ the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

 @ the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic Report 
or the Directors’ Report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

 @ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

 @ the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

 @ certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

 @ we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

Other matters
The financial statements for the prior year were unaudited. We have obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence that the opening balances do not contain a misstatement that materially impacts the current 
period financial statements.

Responsibilities of directors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 41, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group and the parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the group and parent financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of 
irregularities, including fraud. The specific procedures for this engagement and the extent to which these are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud are detailed below. 
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Independent auditor’s report to the members continued

Identifying and assessing risks related to irregularities
We assessed the susceptibility of the group and parent company’s financial statements to material misstatement and how fraud might occur, including through discussions with the directors, discussions within 
our audit team planning meeting, updating our record of internal controls and ensuring these controls operated as intended. We evaluated possible incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the 
financial statements. We identified laws and regulations that are of significance in the context of the group and parent company by discussions with directors, and by updating our understanding of the sector in 
which the group and parent company operates. 

Laws and regulations of direct significance in the context of the group and parent company include The Companies Act 2006, the AIM Rules for Companies and UK Tax legislation. The group and parent company 
also operate in line with legislation specific to battery production, including chemical handling (COSHH), safety testing, environment protection and the Green Economy Mark.

Audit response to risks identified
We considered the extent of compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our audit procedures on the related financial statement items including a review of group and parent company financial statement 
disclosures. We reviewed the parent company’s records of breaches of laws and regulations, minutes of meetings and correspondence with relevant authorities to identify potential material misstatements arising. 
We discussed the parent company’s policies and procedures for compliance with laws and regulations with members of management responsible for compliance.

During the planning meeting with the audit team, the engagement partner drew attention to the key areas which might involve non-compliance with laws and regulations or fraud. We enquired of management 
whether they were aware of any instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations or knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud. We addressed the risk of fraud through management override of 
controls by testing the appropriateness of journal entries and identifying any significant transactions that were unusual or outside the normal course of business. We assessed whether judgements made in making 
accounting estimates gave rise to a possible indication of management bias. At the completion stage of the audit, the engagement partner’s review included ensuring that the team had approached their work with 
appropriate professional scepticism and thus the capacity to identify non-compliance with laws and regulations and fraud. 

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, 
the less likely we would become aware of it. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate 
concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion.

A further description of our responsibilities is available on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the parent company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the parent 
company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 
than the parent company and the parent company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Alistair Hunt (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of Saffery Champness LLP
Chartered Accountants
Statutory Auditors 
Westpoint
Peterborough Business Park
Lynch Wood
Peterborough PE2 6FZ
14 October 2021
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Group statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Financial statements

Year 15 months
ended ended

30 June 30 June
2021 2020

Notes £ £

Turnover 4 1,967,348 1,264,855

Turnover analysed by class of business
Revenue 687,287 802,520
Grant income 1,280,061 462,335

1,967,348 1,264,855

Cost of sales (1,645,708) (1,231,343)

Gross profit 321,640 33,512
Other operating income 4 461,396 392,881
Administrative expenses (4,374,028) (2,305,451)

Operating loss 5 (3,590,992) (1,879,058)
Investment revenues 9 27,576 16,741
Finance costs 10 (245,893) (241,740)

Loss before taxation (3,809,309) (2,104,057)
Income tax income 11 104,794 222,271

Loss and total comprehensive income for the year (3,704,515) (1,881,786)

Earnings per share 12
Basic (pence per share) (12.59) (8.13)
Diluted (pence per share) (12.59) (8.13)

All results were derived from continuing operations.

The notes on pages 56 to 96 form part of these financial statements.
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Group statement of financial position
As at 30 June 2021

Financial statements

30 June 2021 30 June 2020 01 April 2019
Notes £ £ £

Non-current assets
Intangible assets 13 20,998,109 18,061,139 3,064,255
Property, plant and equipment 14 2,235,439 2,311,802 1,454,526
Investments 15 23,626 2 —

23,257,174 20,372,943 4,518,781

Current assets
Inventories 17 280,666 219,133 22,916
Finance lease receivables — — 59,553
Trade and other receivables 18 1,823,505 898,993 702,467
Current tax recoverable 240,000 96,543 99,136
Cash and cash equivalents 9,272,416 949,569 381,856

11,616,587 2,164,238 1,265,928

Current liabilities
Borrowings 20 20,365 20,350 9,624
Lease liabilities 23 147,453 106,316 149,118
Licence liabilities 24 676,191 500,401 49,789
Derivative financial instruments 11,466 359 —
Trade and other payables 22 957,540 609,859 273,654
Deferred revenue 26 28,564 28,564 20,090

1,841,579 1,265,849 502,275

Net current assets 9,775,008 898,389 763,653

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 20 75,636 105,089 30,536
Lease liabilities 23 853,465 1,001,305 64,551
Licence liabilities 24 16,188,357 14,595,654 1,785,134
Long term provisions 25 209,082 208,309 182,983
Deferred revenue 26 2,299,682 1,898,091 915,642

19,626,222 17,808,448 2,978,846

Net assets 13,405,960 3,462,884 2,303,588
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Group statement of financial position continued
As at 30 June 2021

30 June 2021 30 June 2020 01 April 2019
Notes £ £ £

Equity
Called up share capital 29 176,223 321 268
Share premium account 30 20,808,951 8,067,562 5,092,139
Share option reserve 821,641 128,052 62,446
Retained earnings (8,400,855) (4,733,051) (2,851,265)

Total equity 13,405,960 3,462,884 2,303,588

The notes on pages 56 to 96 form part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 14 October 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr K D Brundish
Director
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Company statement of financial position
As at 30 June 2021

30 June 2020
30 June 2021 as restated

Notes £ £

Non-current assets
Intangible assets 33 9,476,609 6,356,780
Property, plant and equipment 34 2,173,991 2,197,473
Investments 35 3,067,700 3,044,076

14,718,300 11,598,329

Current assets
Inventories 36 280,666 219,133
Trade and other receivables 37 1,769,631 388,183
Current tax recoverable 240,000 —
Cash and cash equivalents 9,168,695 813,109

11,458,992 1,420,425

Current liabilities
Borrowings 38 20,365 20,365
Lease liabilities 40 101,360 57,808
Licence liabilities 41 293,192 276,789
Derivative financial instruments 11,466 173
Trade and other payables 39 4,333,015 1,669,941
Deferred revenue 43 28,564 —

4,787,962 2,025,061

Net current assets/(liabilities) 6,671,030 (604,636)

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 38 75,636 105,089
Lease liabilities 40 853,465 955,212
Licence liabilities 41 1,495,656 1,444,808
Long term provisions 42 200,000 200,000
Deferred revenue 43 2,299,682 1,763,300

4,924,439 4,468,409

Net assets 16,464,891 6,525,284



Financial statements 

AMTE Power plc | Annual report and accounts 2021 51

1 2 3 4

Company statement of financial position continued
As at 30 June 2021

2021
as restated 2020

Notes £ £

Equity
Called up share capital 29 176,223 321
Share premium account 30 20,808,951 8,067,562
Share option reserve 821,641 128,052
Retained earnings (5,341,924) (1,670,651)

Total equity 16,464,891 6,525,284

As permitted by s408 Companies Act 2006, the company has not presented its own income statement and related notes. The company’s loss for the year was £3,707,984 (2020 - £868,374 loss).

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 14 October 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr K D Brundish
Director
Company Registration No. 08490522
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Group statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Share capital
Share 

premium account
Share option 

reserve Retained earnings Total
Notes £ £ £ £ £

As restated for the period ended 30 June 2020:
Balance at 1 April 2019 268 5,068,165 — (2,851,265) 2,217,168
Transition adjustments 32 — 23,974 62,446 — 86,420

As restated 268 5,092,139 62,446 (2,851,265) 2,303,588
Period ended 30 June 2020:
Loss and total comprehensive income for the period — — — (1,881,786) (1,881,786)
Issue of share capital 29 53 3,146,009 — — 3,146,062
Costs of share issues — (170,586) — — (170,586)
Share option expense in the period 28 — — 65,606 — 65,606

Balance at 30 June 2020 321 8,067,562 128,052 (4,733,051) 3,462,884

Year ended 30 June 2021:
Loss and total comprehensive income for the year — — — (3,704,515) (3,704,515)
Issue of share capital 29 38,461 13,812,062 — — 13,850,523
Costs of share issues 30 — (1,598,831) — — (1,598,831)
Bonus issue 29 134,548 (134,548) — — —
Warrant expense in the year 28 — (36,928) 36,928 — —
Share option expense in the year 28 — — 979,384 — 979,384
Share option exercise 28 2,893 699,634 (286,012) — 416,515
Share option forfeit 28 — — (36,711) 36,711 —

Balance at 30 June 2021 176,223 20,808,951 821,641 (8,400,855) 13,405,960
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Company statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Share capital
Share 

premium account
Share option 

reserve Retained earnings Total
Notes £ £ £ £ £

As restated for the period ended 30 June 2020:
Balance at 1 April 2019 268 5,068,164 — (712,451) 4,355,981
Transition adjustments 44 — 23,975 62,446 (89,826) (3,405)

As restated 268 5,092,139 62,446 (802,277) 4,352,576
Period ended 30 June 2020:
Loss and total comprehensive income for the period — — — (868,374) (868,374)
Issue of share capital 53 3,146,009 — — 3,146,062
Costs of share issues 30 — (170,586) — — (170,586)
Share option expense in the period 28 — — 65,606 — 65,606

Balance at 30 June 2020 321 8,067,562 128,052 (1,670,651) 6,525,284

Year ended 30 June 2021:
Loss and total comprehensive income for the period — — — (3,707,984) (3,707,984)
Issue of share capital 29 38,461 13,775,134 — — 13,813,595
Costs of share issues 30 — (1,598,831) — — (1,598,831)
Bonus issue 29 134,548 (134,548) — — —
Share option expense in the year 28 — — 1,016,312 — 1,016,312
Share option exercise 28 2,893 699,634 (286,012) — 416,515
Share option forfeit 28 — — (36,711) 36,711 —

Balance at 30 June 2021 176,223 20,808,951 821,641 (5,341,924) 16,464,891
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Group statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 June 2021

2021 2020
Notes £ £ £ £

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss for the year after tax (3,704,515) (1,881,786)
Adjustments for:
Taxation charged 11 (277,128) (222,271)
Finance costs 10 245,893 241,740
Investment income 9 (27,576) (16,741)
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 13 140,562 197,996
Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment 14 328,537 407,435
Equity settled share based payment expense 28 979,387 (65,606)
Fair value movement on derivatives 7,743 —
Decrease in provisions 25 773 (25,326)
Movements in working capital:
Increase in inventories 17 (61,533) (196,217)
Increase in trade and other receivables 18 (462,456) (183,945)
Increase in trade and other payables 22 292,312 264,314

Cash absorbed by operations (2,538,001) (1,298,543)
Interest paid (111,362) (68,280)
Tax refunded 37,128 222,271

Net cash outflow from operating activities (2,612,235) (1,144,552)
Investing activities
Purchase of intangible assets 13 (712,215) (1,513,256)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 14 (252,174) (119,969)
Proceeds of sub-lease — 62,250
Acquisition of investments — (2)
Government grants received 430,155 1,011,013
Interest received 3,952 4,573

Net cash used in investing activities (530,282) (555,391)
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Group statement of cash flows continued
For the year ended 30 June 2021

2021 2020
Notes £ £ £ £

Financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares (net of share issue costs) 29 12,325,120 2,975,476
Proceeds from borrowings — 100,000
Repayment of borrowings (29,438) (14,721)
Payment of lease liabilities 23 (106,703) (216,771)
Payment of licence obligations 23 (723,615) (576,328)

Net cash generated from financing activities 11,465,364 2,267,656

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 8,322,847 567,713
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 949,569 381,856

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 9,272,416 949,569

Note to the statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising form financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities for which cash flows 
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows as cash flows from financing activities.

At 1 April 2019 Financing cash flows Inception Non-cash interest At 30 June 2020

Borrowings 40,160 85,279 — — 125,439
Lease liabilities 213,669 (216,771) 1,110,723 — 1,107,621
IP licence liabilities 1,834,923 (576,328) 11,822,307 2,015,153 15,096,055

2,088,752 (707,820) 12,933,030 2,015,153 16,329,115

At 1 July 2020 Financing cash flows Inception Non-cash interest At 30 June 2021

Borrowings 125,439 (29,438) — — 96,001
Lease liabilities 1,107,621 (106,703) — — 1,000,918
IP licence liabilities 15,096,055 (723,615) 328,861 2,163,247 16,864,548

16,329,115 (859,756) 328,861 2,163,247 17,961,467
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Notes to the Group financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

1 Accounting policies
Company information 
AMTE Power plc is a public company limited by shares incorporated in England and Wales. The registered office is Suite 1, 3rd Floor, 11-12 St. James’s Square, London, SW1Y 4LB. The company’s 
principal activities and nature of its operations are disclosed in the directors’ report.

The group consists of AMTE Power plc and all of its subsidiaries.

1.1 Accounting convention 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with international accounting standards (IFRS) in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. These financial 
statements for the year ended 30 June 2021 are the first group financial statements of AMTE Power plc prepared in accordance with IFRS.

The financial statements are prepared in sterling, which is the functional currency of the group. Monetary amounts in these financial statements are rounded to the nearest £1.

The financial statements have been prepared prepared under the historical cost convention, modified to include the revaluation of certain financial instruments at fair value. The principal 
accounting policies adopted are set out below.

The parent company meets the definition of a qualifying entity under FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework. These financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021 are the first financial 
statements of AMTE Power plc prepared in accordance with FRS 101. The company transitioned from UK GAAP to FRS 101 for all periods presented and the date of transition to FRS 101 was 1 April 2019.

As permitted by FRS 101, the company has taken advantage of the following disclosure exemptions from the requirements of IFRS:

(a) the requirements of IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure’;

(b) the requirements within IAS 1 relating to the presentation of certain comparative information;

(c) the requirements of IAS 7 ‘Statement of Cash Flows’ to present a statement of cash flows;

(d)  paragraphs 30 and 31 of IAS 8 ‘Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors’ (requirement for the disclosure of information when an entity has not applied a new IFRS that has 
been issued but it not yet effective); and

(e) the requirements of IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ to disclose related party transactions and balances between two or more members of a group.

As permitted by S408 Companies Act 2006, the Company had not presented its own Statement of Comprehensive Income. The company’s loss for the year was £3,707,984 (2020 - £868,374 loss).

These financial statements present a 12 month period to 30 June 2021 and the comparative period presents a 15 month period to 30 June 2020. As such, the comparative amounts presented in the 
financial statements are not entirely comparable.

1.2 Business combinations 
The cost of a business combination is the fair value at the acquisition date of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed, plus costs directly attributable to the 
business combination. The excess of the cost of a business combination over the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired is recognised as goodwill.

The cost of the combination includes the estimated amount of contingent consideration that is probable and can be measured reliably, and is adjusted for changes in contingent consideration 
after the acquisition date.

Provisional fair values recognised for business combinations in previous periods are adjusted retrospectively for final fair values determined in the 12 months following the acquisition date.

1.3 Basis of consolidation 
The consolidated group financial statements consist of the financial statements of the parent company AMTE Power plc together with all entities controlled by the parent company (its subsidiaries) 
and the group’s share of its interests in joint ventures and associates.

All financial statements are made up to 30 June 2021. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with those 
used by other members of the group.
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1 Accounting policies continued
1.3 Basis of consolidation continued
All intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

Subsidiaries are consolidated in the group’s financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

Entities in which the group holds an interest and which are jointly controlled by the group and one or more other venturers under a contractual arrangement are treated as joint ventures. Entities 
other than subsidiary undertakings or joint ventures, in which the group has a participating interest and over whose operating and financial policies the group exercises a significant influence, are 
treated as associates.

Investments in joint ventures and associates are carried in the group statement of financial position at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the group’s share of the net assets of the entity, less any 
impairment in value. The carrying values of investments in joint ventures and associates include acquired goodwill.

If the group’s share of losses in a joint venture or associate equals or exceeds its investment in the joint venture or associate, the group does not recognise further losses unless it has incurred 
obligations to do so or has made payments on behalf of the joint venture or associate.

1.4 Going concern 
The Group had net assets of £13,405,960 and cash and cash equivalents of £9,272,416 as at 30 June 2021. The Directors have prepared a cash flow forecast for the period ending 30 June 2023 and 
performed sensitivities to ensure that the cash was sufficient for the going concern opinion. These sensitivities were based on a potential rise in costs across the business and lower than expected 
prototype and product sales as a result of delays in product development.

The Group expects to remain cash positive without the requirement for further fund raising based on delivering the existing strategy for a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of 
these financial statements. 

The Group currently consumes cash resources and will continue to do so until sales revenues are sufficiently high to generate net cash inflows. It is therefore currently dependent on its 
shareholders for support. In previous years this has been forthcoming from both its existing and new shareholders.

After making appropriate enquiries, the Directors of the Group have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future. Thus, the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the historical financial information.

1.5 Turnover 
Turnover recognised by the Group consists of commercial revenue and grant income. It is generated from the principal activities of the Group and represents amounts (excluding VAT) earned in 
respect of goods delivered and services rendered to customers net of trade discounts and of grant income awarded against qualifying costs for work carried out on pre-agreed project 
programmes. The Group follows IFRS 15 for its revenue recognition for commercial contracts and treats the grant income under IAS 20.

Revenue recognition policy for commercial contracts under IFRS 15
The Group enters into commercial contracts with customers which stipulate certain deliverables or milestones to be met by the Group during the life of the contract, against which payments are to 
be made to the Group. Under the terms of the contracts, the Group is able to raise invoices for these payments when these milestones have been achieved to the satisfaction of both contracting 
parties.

The recognition of the revenue is aligned to the principles based, five-step model set out in IFRS 15 and represents income recognised in respect of goods and services provided during the period 
based on the delivery of performance obligations and assessment of when control is transferred to the customer.

Identification of distinct performance obligations
The majority of the contracts entered into by the Group are bespoke in their structure and deliverables. Therefore at the outset of the contracts the Group identifies the distinct performance 
obligations it promises to transfer to the customer. In certain cases, the performance obligation may be the completion of a cell drawing or a detailed delivery plan rather than a physical good. The 
Group typically agrees payment terms to coincide with the passing of particular milestones.
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1 Accounting policies continued
1.5 Turnover continued
Revenue recognition policy for commercial contracts under IFRS 15 continued
Satisfying performance obligations over time
In the majority of cases, the performance obligations laid out in the contracts meets the criteria required under IFRS 15 section 35 to enable the performance obligation to be satisfied over time. As 
a result the Group recognises revenue for individual projects each month on a pro rata basis to the costs incurred for the performance obligation. All costs related to the performance obligation are 
therefore recognised in the P&L alongside the income.

Duration of contract
The commercial projects are for a defined purpose and expected time frame however the Group may seek permission to extend the life of a project should it feel this is required to meet the 
obligations and deliver the outcome(s) of the project. Should the project be extended, then the expenditure profile looking forward will be extended over the new period, however the total value of 
the contract will not change without agreement from the customer. The revenue profile of the project will also change to mirror the new expenditure profile.

Contract modifications
A contract modification takes place with the agreement of the customer(s), which may create new deliverables and outcomes. Revenue is recognised against the actual expenditure incurred and a 
change of contract leading to a change in profit margin may impact on the level of income previously recognised.

Contract modifications may be accounted for as a separate contract if the contract scope changes due to the addition of distinct goods or services.

Recognition of grant income under IAS 20
AMTE Power enters into consortium with partners who together will apply for grant income to be paid out against a project that contains defined deliverables, a defined duration, clear outcomes 
and a set level of expenditure. Each partner agrees a set level of expenditure at the start of the project and a level of grant income paid for by the grant provider is allocated for payment against the 
expenditure incurred by each partner. The deliverables on the project for each partner are linked through a number of work streams. Such projects are sought by the Group as they provide funding 
over one or more work streams that form part of the Group’s programme(s) to deliver new products.

The grant income received by the Group does not constitute a “contract with a customer” and therefore IFRS 15 does not apply. The group therefore applies IAS 20 in how it treats the grant income.

Under IAS 20, section 12 “Government grants shall be recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the entity recognises as expenses the related costs for which the 
grants are intended to compensate”.

The Group recognises the costs of a project in the period in which they are incurred, and the grant income that is provided against this expenditure is recognised as income in the same period. The 
grant income recognised each month is recorded as accrued income, with a balancing amount recorded in trade receivables. The grant programmes that the Group participates in typically operate 
on a three month cycle, with accrued income over each three month period paid in the month following that period.

Where the expenditure on a product has been capitalised and the matching grant income has been recognised, the grant income matching to the capitalised expenditure will be treated as deferred income 
and included in the consolidated statement of financial position as a liability. It will remain on the balance sheet until such time that it can be amortised and recognised.

Duration of contract
The grant funded projects are for a defined period however the consortium may seek permission to extend the life of a project should it feel this is required to meet the obligations and deliver the 
outcome(s) of the project. Should the project be extended, then the expenditure profile looking forward will be extended over the new period, however the total value of the contract will not 
change. The revenue profile of the project will also change to mirror the new expenditure profile.

The Group does not capitalise the expenditure against the project deliverables but against the new products being developed, of which the project forms just one or more of the total product 
development programme.

Contract modifications
A contract modification takes place with the agreement of the partners and the grant provider, which may create new deliverables and outcomes. Grant income is recognised against the actual 
expenditure incurred and so a change of contract is not expected to impact on the income previously recognised.

Contract modifications may be accounted for as a separate contract if the contract scope changes due to the addition of distinct goods or services.
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1 Accounting policies continued
1.6 Intangible assets other than goodwill 
Intangible Assets – IP Rights and Patent Licence Obligations
The Group entered into two licence agreements, which give it the right to utilise the underlying intellectual property (“IP Rights” or “IPR”) provided for in the licences in return for making a licence 
fee payment and also making royalty payments against the sale of products by the Group that relies on the aforementioned IPR.

The Group has valued its access to IPRs based on the present value of the contractual cash payments, using the WACC at inception date for the Group.

The Group has also recognised a corresponding Patent Licence Obligation in the statement of financial position. The licence obligation is subject to an interest charge each year, based on the 
WACC, which is initially recorded under finance expense in the statement of comprehensive income and the corresponding entry increases the patent licence obligations. The payments made by 
the Group under the licence are set against the outstanding patent licence obligation.

The value of the IP Rights is being amortised over the expected life of the contractual payments under the various licences.

 @ For the first licence, the value of the IP Rights is amortised over a seven year period on a straight-line basis.

 @ The second licence contains a mandatory ongoing minimum royalty payment (“MRP”) that escalates each year for the first nine years of the licence and does not rely on product sales made by 
the Group and that utilise the underlying IPR. The directors estimate that the remaining life of the IP as at the date of entering into the licence is 16 years and have therefore used the schedule of 
mandatory cash payments over this 16 year period to calculate the present value of the IPR. Due to the escalating nature of the MRPs over the first nine years, the rate of amortisation during this 
period has been matched against the discounted value of the payments for the first nine years, following which the balance of the intangible asset is amortised on a straight-line basis over the 
remaining seven years.

Capitalisation of the interest and amortisation
The development work carried out by the Group is focused on delivering new products. As at 30 June 2021, the Group had not made product sales, and so it operated a capitalisation policy of the 
costs incurred in the development of these products. The development work relies on the IPR from these two licences and so where the IP can be attributed to a particular product, the interest on 
the patent licence obligations under IAS 23 ‘Borrowing Costs’ and the amortisation of the IP Rights recognised under IAS 38 ‘Intangible Assets’ have been capitalised as an internally generated 
intangible asset called Development Battery Cells, see below.

The directors estimate that 50% of the recognised costs of the first licence and 100% of the costs of the second licence are attributable to development work on products and therefore have been 
capitalised.

Intangible Assets – Development Battery Cells
Since 1 April 2018, the Group has adopted a policy whereby expenditure incurred by it in the development of its own product range of battery cells is capitalised as intangible assets if the Group can 
establish that the product programmes meet the relevant conditions. Such development expenditure is deferred to future periods where the following six conditions have been met:

(a) there is a clearly defined project;

(b) the related expenditure is separately identifiable;

(c) the outcome of such a project has been assessed with reasonable certainty as to:

(i) its technical feasibility; and

(ii)  its ultimate commercial viability considered in the light of factors such as likely market conditions (including competing products), public opinion, consumer and environmental legislation.

(d)  the aggregate of the deferred development costs, any further development costs, and related production, selling and administration costs is reasonably expected to be exceeded by related 
future sales or other revenues; 

(e) adequate resources exist, or are reasonably expected to be available, to enable the project to be completed and to provide any consequential increases in working capital; and

(f) the Group has the intention to complete the intangible assets and use or sell it.

The directors believe that the above conditions have been met for four of its product programmes and it has therefore capitalised the expenditure in the statement of financial position.
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1 Accounting policies continued
1.6 Intangible assets other than goodwill continued
Intangible Assets – Development Battery Cells continued
The amortisation of the intangible assets commences with the first commercial production and sales of the products and will be allocated on a systematic basis to each accounting period, by 
reference to either the sale or use of the product or the period over which these are expected to be sold or used.

The aggregate value of the deferred development expenditure for each product is reviewed at the end of each accounting period and where the circumstances which have justified the deferral of 
the expenditure set out above no longer apply, or are considered doubtful, the expenditure, to the extent to which it is considered to be irrecoverable, the deferred expenditure is impaired.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income 
immediately.

1.7  Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost or valuation, net of depreciation and any impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets less their residual values over their useful lives on the following bases:

Leasehold improvements  7 - 15 years

Fixtures and fittings  10 - 20 years

Plant and equipment  3 - 20 years

Right of use asset - Dilapidations Over the period of the lease

Right of use asset - Buildings  Over the period of the lease

Right of use asset - equipment 7 - 15 years

The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is determined as the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying value of the asset, and is recognised in the income statement.

1.8 Non-current investments 
Interests in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. The investments are 
assessed for impairment at each reporting date and any impairment losses or reversals of impairment losses are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the parent company. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of the entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

An associate is an entity, being neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture, in which the group holds a long-term interest and has significant influence. The group considers that it has significant 
influence where it has the power to participate in the financial and operating decisions of the associate.

Entities in which the group has a long term interest and shares control under a contractual arrangement are classified as jointly controlled entities.

1.9 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets 
At each reporting end date, the group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any 
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount 
of an individual asset, the group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.
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1 Accounting policies continued
1.9 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets continued
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable 
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an 
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

1.10 Inventories 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and estimated selling price less costs to complete and sell. Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those 
overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

Inventories held for distribution at no or nominal consideration are measured at the lower of cost and replacement cost, adjusted where applicable for any loss of service potential.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

1.11 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank 
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities.

1.12 Financial assets 
Financial assets are recognised in the group’s statement of financial position when the group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are classified into 
specified categories, depending on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and the entity’s business model for managing financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the 
financial asset.

At initial recognition, financial assets classified as fair value through profit and loss are measured at fair value and any transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss. Financial assets not classified 
as fair value through profit and loss are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
When any of the above-mentioned conditions for classification of financial assets is not met, a financial asset is classified as measured at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets measured 
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised initially at fair value and any transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss when incurred. A gain or loss on a financial asset measured at fair 
value through profit or loss is recognised in profit or loss, and is included within finance income or finance costs in the statement of income for the reporting period in which it arises.

Financial assets held at amortised cost 
Financial instruments are classified as financial assets measured at amortised cost where the objective is to hold these assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, and the contractual cash 
flows are solely payments of principal and interest. They arise principally from the provision of goods and services to customers (e.g. trade receivables). They are initially recognised at fair value plus 
transaction costs directly attributable to their acquisition or issue, and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less provision for impairment where 
necessary. All financial assets are reviewed for their corresponding estimated credit losses and considered in respect of their credit risk profile. As such, an estimated credit loss provision is 
recognised either in accordance with stage one, two or three criteria.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
Debt instruments are classified as financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income where the financial assets are held within the group’s business model whose 
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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1.12 Financial assets continued
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income continued 
A debt instrument measured at fair value through other comprehensive income is recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs directly attributable to the asset. After initial recognition, 
each asset is measured at fair value, with changes in fair value included in other comprehensive income. Accumulated gains or losses recognised through other comprehensive income are directly 
transferred to profit or loss when the debt instrument is derecognised.

Impairment of financial assets 
Financial assets, other than those measured at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each reporting end date.

Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash 
flows of the investment have been affected.

Derecognition of financial assets 
Financial assets are derecognised only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership to another entity.

1.13 Financial liabilities
The group recognises financial debt when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. Financial liabilities are classified as either ‘financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss’ or ‘other financial liabilities’.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at fair value through profit or loss when the financial liability is held for trading. A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

 @ it has been incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term, or

 @ on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit taking, or

 @ it is a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging instrument.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or loss.

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, trade payables and other short-term monetary liabilities, are initially measured at fair value net of transaction costs directly attributable to the 
issuance of the financial liability. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. For the purposes of each financial liability, interest expense includes initial 
transaction costs and any premium payable on redemption, as well as any interest or coupon payable while the liability is outstanding.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are derecognised when, and only when, the group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled, or they expire.

1.14 Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the parent company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Dividends payable on equity instruments are recognised as liabilities once they 
are no longer payable at the discretion of the company.

1.15 Derivatives
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to fair value at each reporting end date. The resulting gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of 
the hedge relationship.

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset, whereas a derivative with a negative fair value is recognised as a financial liability. A derivative is presented as a non-current 
asset or liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more than 12 months and it is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are classified as current.
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1.16 Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are 
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the reporting end date.

As well as receiving RDEC, the Group also receives R&D tax credits on the development expenditure it makes on the commercial projects it undertakes. These credits are paid by HM Revenue & 
Customs to the Group following the year end.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in 
the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred 
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not 
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting end date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or 
part of the asset to be recovered. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged or 
credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are offset when the group has a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority.

1.17 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive present obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the reporting end date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that 
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

1.18 Employee benefits
The costs of short-term employee benefits are recognised as a liability and an expense, unless those costs are required to be recognised as part of the cost of inventories or non-current assets.

The cost of any unused holiday entitlement is recognised in the period in which the employee’s services are received.

Termination benefits are recognised immediately as an expense when the group is demonstrably committed to terminate the employment of an employee or to provide termination benefits.

1.19 Retirement benefits
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as an expense as they fall due.

1.20 Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value at the date of grant by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted using the Black-Scholes model. The fair value determined at the 
grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the estimate of shares that will eventually vest. A corresponding adjustment is made to equity.

The Group also enters into arrangements that are equity-settled, share-based payments with certain employees (including directors) in the form of share options.
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1 Accounting policies continued
1.20 Share-based payments continued
During the period covered by these financial statements, the Group operated a HM Revenue & Customs approved share option scheme. This scheme is an Enterprise Management Investment 
scheme where equity options are made to certain qualifying employees to reward and incentivise them. The equity share based payments are measured at the fair value of the equity at the given 
date.

The scheme is open to all qualifying employees who are an employee within the group, spend at least 75% of their time or 25 hours working for the Group and hold no more than 30% of the 
business. The options, have a ten-year exercise period from the date of grant and vest on the following terms:

 @ 25% of the options awarded become ‘vested’ one year after the date of grant,

 @ 2.08% of the options awarded become ‘vested’ for each subsequent month in employment, and

 @ the balance of the options awarded vest upon the completion of the 48 months following the date of grant, or on the event of a successful listing, if earlier. As such, all expenses under the 
scheme have been accelerated as at the point of the Group achieving a listing on the Alternative Investment Market in March 2021.

Employees who leave the business are entitled to exercise their vested options for a period of 40 days after they leave the employment of the Group if they are a good leaver, and for a period of 20 
days after they leave the employment of the Group if they are not a good leaver.

The Group also enters into warrants granted to a third party as part of a fundraising round, with the exercise price set at the price of the round. Warrants are recognised as a component of equity 
and are therefore accounted for consistently with share based payments as shown above. As such, the fair value determined at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting 
period, based on the estimate of shares that will eventually vest. A corresponding adjustment is made to equity.

1.21 Leases
At inception, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease within the scope of IFRS 16. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified 
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Where a tangible asset is acquired through a lease, the group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. 
Right-of-use assets are included within property, plant and equipment, apart from those that meet the definition of investment property.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date plus any initial direct costs 
and an estimate of the cost of obligations to dismantle, remove, refurbish or restore the underlying asset and the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of 
the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of other property, plant and equipment. The right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by 
impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are unpaid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be 
readily determined, the group’s incremental borrowing rate. The Group has applied the weighted average incremental borrowing rate achieved by it of 9.3% to the lease liabilities recognised under IFRS 16 
to calculate the finance expense, and it has applied the Group’s weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) of 14.5% to the patent licence obligations.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise fixed payments, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, amounts expected to be payable under a 
residual value guarantee, and the cost of any options that the group is reasonably certain to exercise, such as the exercise price under a purchase option, lease payments in an optional renewal 
period, or penalties for early termination of a lease.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a change in: future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate; the 
group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; or the group’s assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. When 
the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the 
right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases of machinery that have a lease term of 12 months or less, or for leases of low-value assets 
including IT equipment. The payments associated with these leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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1.22 Grants
Government grants are recognised at the fair value of the asset received or receivable when there is reasonable assurance that the grant conditions will be met and the grants will be received.

A grant that specifies performance conditions is recognised in income when the performance conditions are met. Where a grant does not specify performance conditions it is recognised in income 
when the proceeds are received or receivable. A grant received before the recognition criteria are satisfied is recognised as a liability.

The Group has received additional grant payments against the capital expenditure it has incurred. These grant payments have been recognised as deferred income in the statement of financial position 
and then amortised over the life of the capital assets purchased in line with the depreciation policy. The amortised income is recorded in other income.

The Group claims R&D Expenditure Credit (‘RDEC’) on the costs it incurs in its grant funded projects. RDEC is considered taxable income and therefore the Group records the RDEC under Other 
income in the statement of comprehensive income, and the associated tax charge levied against this income is recorded in the taxation line. The income is recognised on the performance model 
under IAS 20 ‘Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosures’.

1.23 Foreign exchange
Transactions in currencies other than pounds sterling are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At each reporting end date, monetary assets and liabilities 
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the reporting end date. Gains and losses arising on translation in the period are included in profit or loss.

1.24 Parent company
The above accounting policies are applied in the parent company financial statements consistently with the group financial statements.

2 Adoption of new and revised standards and changes in accounting policies
The current standards, amendments and interpretations have been adopted in the year and have not had a material impact on the reported results in the company’s financial statements:

 @ Amendments to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting

 @ Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a Business

 @ Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of Material

 @ Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 Interest rate benchmark reform

 @ Amendments to IFRS 16 COVID-19 related rent concessions

 @ Adoption of UK - IFRS for the preparation of financial statements

Standards, amendments and interpretations in issue but not yet effective

At the authorisation of these financial statements, the Group has not applied the following new and revised standards that have been issued but are not effective yet:

Effective date – period beginning on or after

IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’: Classification of liabilities as current or non-current 1 January 2022

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before intended use: amendments to IAS 16 1 January 2022

Onerous Contracts- Cost of Fulfilling a Contract- amendments to IAS 37 1 January 2022

IFRS 17 ‘Insurance Contracts’ and subsequent withdrawal of IFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’ 1 January 2023 *

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale of contribution of asses between an investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 1 January 2023 *
*  These standards, amendments and interpretations have not yet been endorsed by the UK and the dates shown are the expected dates.

The adoption of all above standards is not expected to have any impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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3 Critical accounting estimates and judgements
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amount of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised, if the revision affects 
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The estimates and assumptions which have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities are outlined below.

Critical judgements
Capitalisation of costs related to the development of the Group’s own product base
The Group has a number of product development programmes underway aimed at the advancement of its own product base. Time and costs are tracked through the Group’s reporting and 
accounting systems. Management has established that four of these programmes met the threshold criteria such that the development work will result in future economic benefits to the Group 
and thus the associated costs, including the interest and amortisation from IPR licences agreements, can be capitalised into the Intangible Assets (Development Battery Cells). The directors expect 
that in the future, more product programmes will meet the criteria and therefore lead to future costs being capitalised.

The Group does not capitalise the development costs related to commercial contracts that create new products for customers.

Recoverability of Intangible Assets (Battery Cells)
During the year, the directors considered the recoverability of the Intangible Assets (Development Battery Cells), which are included in its balance sheet at £8.1m (2020: £5.1m, 2019: £1.4m), and 
the associated deferred income. The product programmes that have incurred the capitalised costs and accompanying deferred income are not yet resulting in product sales and so have not been 
amortised or recognised. The Group expects to capitalise additional development costs incurred during the year, and to defer certain income received during the period aligned to this expenditure. 
The directors carried out an assessment of the future expected sales, based on the ongoing interest shown by potential customers for the proposed products, and are satisfied that the assets do 
not need to be impaired.

Amortisation of Intangible Assets (IP Rights)
The Group is benefiting from its access to the IP Rights secured through its licences and has established an amortisation schedule as calculated under IAS 38. The directors have opted to amortise 
the value over the duration of the contractual payment schedules, being seven years and sixteen years.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Incremental borrowing rates applied to calculate lease liabilities and patent licence obligations
The Group has used the incremental borrowing rate of 9.3% to calculate the value of the lease liabilities relating to its property obligations, provision for dilapidations and its equipment leasing 
programmes. This is the weighted average value of the equipment leases and other borrowing costs it has arranged to date. The directors believe that the underlying assets have the potential to be 
funded by third parties and so it is appropriate to use the average rate that it has secured to date.

At the time of inception of the IP Rights contract, the Group had a weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) of 14.5%; accordingly this was used to assess the value of its IP Rights and the 
corresponding licence obligations on the basis that the payments under these licences will be funded by the Group itself, and so it is appropriate to apply the cost to the business of raising funds.

The carrying amounts of such liabilities are disclosed within notes 23 and 24.

Revenue from contracts with customers
The group recognises revenue under the 5 step approach in accordance with IFRS 15. As part of this, the group assesses the stage of each contract and whether milestones have yet been achieved 
as at each financial year end. This assessment requires judgement as to the stage of completeness of each individual project however it is identified by reference to the total costs attributable to a 
contract, with budgets being created at the outset based on management experience.
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4 Turnover
IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’ requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the Group’s chief operating decision maker, 
based on information used to allocate the Group’s resources. The information as presented to internal management is consistent with the statement of comprehensive income.

It has been determined that there is one operating segment, the development of battery cells, and accordingly no segmental analysis is presented on the basis that this would replicate the Income 
Statement.

In the periods covered in the financial statements, the Group operated mainly in the United Kingdom. All non-current assets are located in the United Kingdom. The Group does not have any 
goodwill to allocate to its operating segment.

Year Ended 15 Months Ended
30 June 2021 30 June 2020

£ £

Turnover analysed by class of business
Revenue 687,287 802,520
Grant income 1,280,061 462,335

1,967,348 1,264,855

Year Ended 15 Months Ended
30 June 2021 30 June 2020

£ £

Other significant revenue
Grants other than in respect of core revenue 28,564 22,590
Research and development expenditure credit 172,334 177,170
Shared costs recharged 260,498 193,121

461,396 392,881

Year Ended 15 Months Ended
30 June 2021 30 June 2020

£ £

Turnover analysed by geographical market
United Kingdom 1,868,347 968,141
Rest of the World 99,001 296,714

1,967,348 1,264,855

During the year two customers each accounted for over 10% of revenue, relating to commercial contracts, these customers accounted for £304,930 and £141,512 (2020: £611,023 in total). All 
commercial contract revenues have arisen from contracts with customers, and has been disaggregated to provide revenue amounts for material categories in accordance with the disclosure 
requirements of IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’. Although government grant income is not typically accounted for under IFRS 15, this has been presented within turnover as the 
Group’s business model anticipates significant income from such grants in its current business lifecycle phase.

The Group deferred income of £430,155 (2020: £999,059) against product development costs that were capitalised. Such income is recognised on the performance model under IAS 20 
‘Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosures’. An analysis of the movements on deferred grant income is given in note 26.
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4 Turnover continued
The Group received development government grants against capital investments of £nil (2020: £11,954) in the year, which have been recorded as deferred income. The income has subsequently 
been recognised in the income statement pro rata to the depreciation applied to the assets against which the grants were received. There are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies 
attached to these grants.

The Group claimed RDEC in the year, which is considered taxable income and recognised within other operating income. An associated tax charge is recorded in the taxation line.

The Group received total grant income during the year of £1,280,061 (2020 - £462,335).

5 Operating loss
Year Ended 15 Months Ended

30 June 2021 30 June 2020
£ £

Operating loss for the period is stated after charging/(crediting):
Exchange (gains)/losses (10,207) 371
Research and development costs 1,601,716 1,618,414
Government grants (200,898) (22,590)
Depreciation of tangible assets held under leases 174,887 237,613
Depreciation of owned tangible assets 153,650 169,823
Amortisation of intangible assets (before capitalisation of amortisation) 455,417 447,942
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 328,503 167,372
Share-based payments 979,387 65,606

The operating loss for the year ended 30 June 2021 include R&D expenditure credits of £172,334 that were included in the RNS as income within taxation (see note 4 – other significant revenue).

Calculation of adjusted EBITDA
In reporting EBITDA, the Directors use an adjusted EBITDA metric to better reflect the performance of the business. This metric is calculated as follows:

Year Ended 15 Months Ended
30 June 2021 30 June 2020

£ £

Operating loss (3,590,992) (1,879,058)
Add back:
Equity settled share based payment expense 979,387 65,606
Amortisation of intangible assets 140,561 197,996
Depreciation of property, plant & equipment 328,537 407,435
Deduct:
Payment of licence obligations (723,615) (576,328)
Payment of liabilities for property right-of-use assets (189,237) (239,717)

EBITDA (ADJUSTED) (3,055,359) (2,024,066)

The Directors have opted to include the following cash payments as they believe that this better reflects a key performance indicator focused on the operating performance of the Group. The cash 
payments are: payments for the licence obligations which is effectively the annual payment for the use of the licences set out in Note 24; and the payments for the right-of-use property assets 
reflects the rental payments made for the use of these assets reflected in the balance sheet as an asset and liability, see Note 23.
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6 Auditor’s remuneration 
Year Ended 15 Months Ended

30 June 2021 30 June 2020
£ £

Fees payable to the company’s auditor and associates:
For audit services
Audit of the financial statements of the group and company 61,500 —

For other services
Other services 291,300 —

The Group did not have a statutory audit in 2020, and accordingly no auditor’s remuneration is presented. Included within other services are £280,800 of fees associated with the listing process 
which took place during the year.

7 Employees
The average monthly number of persons (including directors) employed by the Group during the year was:

2021 2020
Number Number

Directors 6 4
Administration 16 13
Production 43 28

Total 65 45

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:

Year Ended 15 Months Ended
30 June 2021 30 June 2020

£ £

Wages and salaries 2,580,008 2,391,579
Social security costs 290,966 227,101
Pension costs 64,841 53,629
Equity settled share based payment costs 979,387 65,606

Gross employment costs 3,915,202 2,737,915
Less staff costs capitalised as part of development expenditure (337,131) (666,390)

Net employment related costs 3,578,071 2,071,525
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8 Directors’ remuneration 
Year Ended 15 Months Ended

30 June 2021 30 June 2020
£ £

Remuneration for qualifying services 292,628 250,385
Company pension contributions to defined contribution schemes 6,413 6,450

299,041 256,835

Included in the above is an amount of £38,667 relating to directors remuneration settled on behalf of the group by a related party.

Remuneration disclosed above includes the following amounts paid to the highest paid director: 

Year Ended 15 Months Ended
30 June 2021 30 June 2020

£ £

110,725 128,750

During the year to 30 June 2021 the Directors received remuneration as follows:
Salary Bonus Benefits in kind Pension Total

Director £ £ £ £ £

Mr D Morgan 36,667 — — — 36,667
The Rt Hon. Viscount Thurso, PC 16,333 — — — 16,333
Mr A Park 16,333 — — — 16,333
Mr N Briers (resigned 16 December 2020) 6,000 — — — 6,000
Mr P Tillett (resigned 16 December 2020) 45,000 — — 1,350 46,350
Mr K Brundish 107,500 — — 3,225 110,725
Ms A Levett (appointed 14 January 2021) 9,795 — — 188 9,983
Mr A Westcott (appointed 16 December 2020) 55,000 — — 1,650 56,650

Total 292,628 — — 6,413 299,041

During the 15 months to 30 June 2020 the Directors received remuneration as follows: 
Salary Bonus Benefits in kind Pension Total

Director £ £ £ £ £

Mr D Morgan 6,385 — — — 6,385
The Rt Hon. Viscount Thurso, PC 1,000 — — — 1,000
Mr A Park 15,000 — — — 15,000
Mr N Briers 7,000 — — — 7,000
Mr P Tillett 96,000 — — 2,700 98,700
Mr K Brundish 125,000 — — 3,750 128,750

Total 250,385 — — 6,450 256,835
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8 Directors’ remuneration continued
Share options
On 16 December 2020 a wards were made under the Company EMI Share Option Scheme (the “Share Scheme”) to certain Executive Directors.

The Share Scheme has been introduced in order to incentivise and retain key members of the executive management team and other key members of staff, and to drive shareholder value creation. 
Share options granted over ordinary shares of 0.5p each in the Company (“Ordinary Shares”) under the Share Scheme (“Share Options”) vest, subject to the employee remaining with the company 
for a period of 4 years. The exercise price of the Share Options is £0.73 per Ordinary Share. Subject to the rules of the Scheme, Share Options lapse 10 years after the date of grant.

Director

Number of options 
granted under 

the share scheme

% of the existing 
issued share capital 

at grant date

Mr A Westcott 200,500 0.74%
Mr K Brundish 78,195 0.29%

During the year the company did not declare any dividends and accordingly the Directors of the Group received £nil dividends (2020: £nil). 

9 Investment income
Year Ended 15 Months Ended

30 June 2021 30 June 2020
£ £

Interest income
Financial instruments measured at amortised cost:
Bank deposits 3,952 4,573
Change in fair value of sub-lease receivables — 2,697
Net change in fair value of loans 23,624 9,471

Total interest revenue 27,576 16,741

10 Finance costs 
Year Ended 15 Months Ended

30 June 2021 30 June 2020
£ £

Interest on bank overdrafts and loans 6,696 —
Interest on lease liabilities 229,474 220,655
Other interest payable 1,207 3,462

Total interest expense 237,377 224,117
Unwinding of discount on provisions 773 17,437
Loss on hedging instrument in a fair value hedge 7,743 186

245,893 241,740

Borrowing costs have been excluded from interest payable and included in the cost of assets during the current year and comparative period. Details of amounts capitalised as part of the cost of 
intangible assets are given in note 13.
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11 Income tax expense
Year Ended 15 Months Ended

30 June 2021 30 June 2020
£ £

Current tax
UK corporation tax on profits for the current period (91,852) (22,271)
Adjustments in respect of prior periods (12,942) —

Total UK current tax (104,794) (222,271)

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss per the income statement as follows:

Year Ended 15 Months Ended
30 June 2021 30 June 2020

£ £

Loss before taxation (3,809,309) (2,104,057)

Expected tax credit based on a corporation tax rate of 19.00% (2020: 19.00%) (723,769) (399,771)
Effect of expenses not deductible in determining taxable profit 11,264 4,841
Income not taxable (41,972) —
Unutilised tax losses carried forward 782,102 652,623
Effect of change in UK corporation tax rate 2,693 —
Permanent capital allowances in excess of depreciation — (39,546)
Depreciation on assets not qualifying for tax allowances 8,183 —
Research and development tax credit (135,464) (397,810)
Effect of revaluations of investments (4,489) —
Share based payment charge (9,408) —
Under/(over) provided in prior years (12,942) —
IFRS transition (8,854) (42,963)
Other 27,862 355

Taxation credit for the period (104,794) (222,271)

The UK corporation tax rate was 19% throughout the year.

A reduction in the UK corporation tax rate from 19% to 17% (effective from 1 April 2020) was enacted in March 2017. A change to the main UK corporation tax rate, announced in the Budget on 11 
March 2020, was substantially enacted on 17 March 2020. The rate applicable from 1 April 2020 remains at 19%, rather than the previously enacted reduction to 17%.

The UK budget on 3 March 2021 announced the intention to increase the tax rate from the current rate of 19% to 25%, with effect from April 2023. Therefore, deferred tax balances at the reporting 
date are measured at 25% (2020: 19%, 2019: 17%).

The Group has recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are offset on the grounds that these unwind against each other and are with the same tax authority. Deferred tax assets are 
recognised on losses, to the extent that these cancel out net liabilities arising on other timing differences only. The total value of deferred tax assets and liabilities as at 30 June 2021 is £551,543 
(2020: £363,364).
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12 Earnings per share
Year Ended 15 Months Ended

30 June 2021 30 June 2020
£ £

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted earnings per share 29,422,110 23,159,372

In the current and comparative year the Group has incurred losses and as such has not presented any dilutive shares in accordance with IAS 33 ‘Earnings per share’. However, the Group does have a 
number of share options and warrants that would dilute the earnings per share should the Group become profitable, details of which are given in note 28.

Earnings (all attributable to equity shareholders of the company)
Continuing operations
Loss for the period from continued operations (3,704,515) (1,881,786)

Earnings per share for continuing operations
Basic earnings per share (pence per share) (12.59) (8.13)
Diluted earnings per share (pence per share) (12.59) (8.13)
Basic earnings per share
From continuing operations (12.59) (8.13)

All earnings per share are derived from continuing operations. If the prior year restatements were not recognised, the comparative basic and diluted earnings per share (pence per share) would be (9.41).
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13 Intangible assets

IP Rights
Development 
Battery Cells Total

Group £ £ £

Cost
At 1 April 2019 1,847,964 1,436,287 3,284,251
Additions - borrowing costs — 1,859,316 1,859,316
Additions - amortisation capitalised — 249,946 249,946
Additions - internal costs — 1,513,256 1,513,256
Additions - inception of licence 11,822,308 — 11,822,308

At 30 June 2020 13,670,272 5,058,805 18,729,077
Additions - borrowing costs — 2,036,459 2,036,459
Additions - amortisation capitalised — 314,855 314,855
Additions - internal costs — 712,215 712,215
Additions - modification of licence 328,858 — 328,858

At 30 June 2021 13,999,130 8,122,334 22,121,464

Amortisation and impairment
At 1 April 2019 219,996 — 219,996
Charge for the year - capitalised 249,946 — 249,946
Charge for the year - expensed 197,996 — 197,996

At 30 June 2020 667,938 — 667,938
Charge for the year - capitalised 314,855 — 314,855
Charge for the year - expensed 140,562 — 140,562

At 30 June 2021 1,123,355 — 1,123,355

Carrying amount
At 30 June 2021 12,875,775 8,122,334 20,998,109

At 30 June 2020 13,002,334 5,058,805 18,061,139

At 31 March 2019 1,627,968 1,436,287 3,064,255

The Group capitalised the development costs relating to the products it is developing, in line with IAS 38, however it has not yet amortised the costs. The Group also records the value of the IP 
Rights it holds through licences. The amortisation of the IP Rights and the interest arising from the licence obligations has been capitalised into the Intangible Assets (Development Battery Cells) 
whilst the battery cells are being developed.

The Group also secured certain grant income to cover a portion of the development costs, and this grant income has been recognised as deferred income. As of the end of this period, no 
amortisation of the Intangible Assets (Development Battery Cells) has taken place.
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14 Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold
 improvements

Fixtures 
and fittings

Plant 
and equipment

Right of use 
asset - 

Sub-lease

Right of use 
asset -

 Dilapidations

Right of use 
asset

- Buildings

Right of use 
asset - 

equipment Total
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Cost
At 1 April 2019 — 20,863 8,425,425 (200,241) 153,169 481,508 105,251 8,985,975
Additions 36,828 15,531 67,783 — 7,889 1,022,290 114,390 1,264,711
Disposals — — — 200,241 — (481,508) — (281,267)

At 30 June 2020 36,828 36,394 8,493,208 — 161,058 1,022,290 219,641 9,969,419
Additions — — 252,174 — — — — 252,174
Transfers between classes 12,760 — (12,760) — — — — —

At 30 June 2021 49,588 36,394 8,732,622 — 161,058 1,022,290 219,641 10,221,593

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 April 2019 — 3,251 7,228,005 (146,830) 102,112 334,381 10,530 7,531,449
Charge for the year 1,875 2,618 165,330 (53,411) 52,783 205,749 32,491 407,435
Eliminated on disposal — — — 200,241 — (481,508) — (281,267)

At 30 June 2020 1,875 5,869 7,393,335 — 154,895 58,622 43,021 7,657,617
Charge for the year 4,958 2,673 146,019 — 2,958 138,423 33,506 328,537
Transfers between classes 3,568 — (3,568) — — — — —

At 30 June 2021 10,401 8,542 7,535,786 — 157,853 197,045 76,527 7,986,154

Carrying amount
At 30 June 2021 39,187 27,852 1,196,836 — 3,205 825,245 143,114 2,235,439

At 30 June 2020 34,953 30,525 1,099,873 — 6,163 963,668 176,620 2,311,802

At 31 March 2019 — 17,612 1,197,420 (53,411) 51,057 147,127 94,721 1,454,526
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14 Property, plant and equipment continued
The Group has lease contracts for buildings and equipment used in its operations, which have the following lease terms:

 @ Leased equipment has terms of between 3 and 5 years,

 @ Property leases have terms of under 3 years in the case of office space near Oxford and for 10 years for manufacturing facility in Thurso,

 @ The sub-lease had a duration of under 3 years and expired in the comparative period.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with 
a lease term of 12 months or less and typically account for low-value assets including IT equipment and small items of office furniture.

15 Investments 
Current Non-current

2021 2020 2021 2020

£ £ £ £

Other investments — — 23,626 2

Fair value of financial assets carried at amortised cost 
Except as detailed below, the directors believe that the carrying amounts of financial assets carried at amortised cost in the financial statements approximate to their fair values.

Movements in non-current investments 
Investments

£

Cost or valuation
At 1 July 2020 2
Valuation changes 23,624

At 30 June 2021 23,626

Carrying amount
At 30 June 2021 23,626

At 30 June 2020 2

Investments represent a 19.5% investment in the Ordinary share capital of MEP Technologies Limited, a company incorporated in Scotland.

In accordance with IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, the Group has designated this investment at fair value through profit and loss. As the company is small, unlisted, and has been active for only a 
short period, there is no readily available observable market value in accordance with IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’. As such the Directors have recognised a fair value movement calculated in 
accordance with equity accounting rules, which would have applied had the Group owned 20% or more of MEP Technologies Limited. The Directors do not believe that this gives rise to a significantly 
different outcome to fair value.

Post balance sheet events
The Group announced the signing of a shareholder agreement to formalise the joint venture with InfraNomics in Australia, targeting the energy storage sector. The joint venture, called Bardan cells, 
will operate from Australia’s “Lithium Valley” Kwinana Industrial Area, and has plans to build and fund a 200,000 cell micro production line as a forerunner to establishing a 1-2GWh per annum facility.
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16 Subsidiaries
Details of the company’s subsidiaries at 30 June 2021 are as follows:

Class of % Held
Name of undertaking Registered office Principal activities shares held Direct

AGM Batteries Limited England and Wales (1) Development of emerging battery cell 
technologies

Ordinary 100.00

AMTE Power Technology Limited England and Wales (2) Research and experimental 
development on natural sciences and 
engineering

Ordinary 100.00

Registered office addresses (all UK unless otherwise indicated):
1 Suite 1, 3rd Floor 11-12 St James’s Square, London, SW1Y 4LB

2 Warwick House, Spitfire Close, Ermine Business Park, Huntingdon, PE29 6XY

AMTE Power Technology Limited is currently a dormant entity and has been since incorporation in March 2018.

17 Inventories

2021 2020
£ £

Raw materials and work in progress 280,666 219,133

18 Trade and other receivables 
2021 2020

£ £

Trade receivables 254,138 210,278
VAT recoverable 132,924 59,016
Other receivables 1,169,491 438,789
Prepayments 266,952 190,910

1,823,505 898,993
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19 Trade receivables - credit risk
Fair value of trade receivables
The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables is approximately equal to their fair value.

2021 2020
Ageing of past due but not impaired receivables £ £

Current 106,798 130,960
More than 30 days past due 73,959 12,456
More than 60 days past due 73,381 66,862

254,138 210,278

Trade receivables at the reporting date are shown above net of provisions. Expected lifetime credit losses have been estimated in accordance with IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ across the entire 
population of trade receivables, all of which have been recognised as a result of contracts with customers as defined in IFRS 15, with no material financing element embedded within these 
contracts. The Group also recognised revenues from government grants, but such funds are typically received in advance or accrued as income, and as such do not come under the heading of 
trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses that comprise the irrecoverable amounts, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics, typically limited to the number of 
days past due. The expected loss rates are then applied to this ageing profile using the simplified approach to expected credit losses as prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits the Group to use a 
provision matrix to measure the lifetime expected losses. These losses are based on historical loss rates for similar aged debts, assuming that these are representative of the days past due. These 
historical rates are adjusted, where appropriate, to reflect the current and forward-looking information affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables, unless a receivable is already 
provided for in full as a specific credit loss. At the current and comparative period end, based on the low value of total trade receivables and a good history of no default, the Group has not 
recognised any specific credit loss or expected credit loss as such amounts have been determined to be immaterial to the financial statements. The Directors consider the credit quality of trade 
and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired to be good.

No significant receivable balances are impaired at the reporting end date.

20 Borrowings
Current Non-current

2021 2020 2021 2020
£ £ £ £

Borrowings held at amortised cost:
Other loans 20,365 20,350 75,636 105,089

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group secured loans for £50,000 on favourable terms (3%) that were below market rates. In the period ended 30 June 2020, the Group secured further 
loans for £100,000 at below market rates (2.5% - 3%).
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21 Financial risk management
Foreign exchange risk
The Group has limited exposure to transactional foreign currency risk from trading transactions. The Group considers the need to mitigate this exposure as and when appropriate and will enter into 
forward foreign exchange contracts to mitigate any significant risks. The Group also seeks to issue invoices to customers based in Europe or USA in the respective currencies to provide a natural 
hedge against a small portion of the Group’s overall costs.

At present, the Group has taken out a forward contract on its US dollar exposure of US$150,000 using currency forward rate contract. It is utilising this facility for US$ priced payments.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s activities expose it to the financial risks of interest rates. The Group reviews its risk management strategy on a regular basis and if appropriate it will enter into derivative financial 
instruments in order to manage interest rate risk. At present, the Group does not have any financial leases that have a floating interest rate, however should it take on such facilities where this is the 
case, then it will review the risk exposure it has.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or other financial assets. The ability 
to do this relies on the Group expanding its customer base, collecting its trade receivables, completing financings in a timely manner and by maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents on hand.

The Group monitors its payables on a periodic basis and uses the credit terms to manage the timing of payments to suppliers.

The following tables show the contractual maturities of financial liabilities:

Total Less than 1 year Between 1 and 5 years Over 5 years
2021 £ £ £ £

Trade and other payables 625,833 625,833 — —
Accrued liabilities 331,707 331,707 — —
Borrowings 96,001 20,365 75,636 —
Lease liabilities 1,000,918 147,453 418,972 434,493
IP Rights licence obligations 16,864,548 676,191 6,442,214 9,746,143
Dilapidations provision 209,082 — — 209,082

19,128,089 1,801,549 6,936,822 10,389,718

Total Less than 1 year Between 1 and 5 years Over 5 years
2020 £ £ £ £

Trade and other payables 456,002 456,002 — —
Accrued liabilities 153,857 153,857 — —
Borrowings 125,439 20,350 105,089 —
Lease liabilities 1,107,621 106,316 465,556 535,749
IP Rights licence obligations 15,096,055 500,401 4,652,808 9,942,846
Dilapidations provision 208,309 — — 208,309

17,147,283 1,236,926 5,223,453 10,686,904
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21 Financial risk management continued
Market risk
Due to the development nature of the contracts and product programmes that the Group enters into, currently it is not materially exposed to a market directly. However, its products are focused on 
meeting certain current or expected requirements of individual markets, and these requirements could evolve before the Group is able to complete its product development programme(s).

The Group periodically reviews the markets, and demands expected of products, to minimise the risk to its business. It is also reviewing new markets to identify future demand outside of the initial 
intended markets.

Once the Group has released products, then it will carry out an assessment of the market risk it is exposed to and will carry out sensitivity analysis on the impact that each risk will have on the 
product(s)’ performance and the wider impact on the Group’s income statement and its financial position.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss.

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets.

On an ongoing basis, trade receivable balances attributable to each customer are monitored and appropriate action is taken to follow up on those balances when they are considered overdue. In a 
limited number of customer contracts, an initial payment is secured which helps to mitigate the overall credit risk of a project.

Although the Group has its own terms and conditions with a 30-day payment expectation, under some contracts it accepts longer terms with suitable customers. Should a trade debtor exceed the 
payment terms, then the Group engages to ensure swift payment. Due to the development nature of the contract, any payments that continue to be delayed may result on discussions over the 
delivery of the rest of the project. Should there be no engagement from the customer for a period of time then a provision is made for the amount outstanding.

The maximum exposure to loss arising from trade accounts receivable is equal to their total carrying value.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is as follows:

2021 2020
£ £

Cash on deposit 9,272,416 949,569
Trade receivables 254,138 210,278
Loss allowance — —
Other receivables 1,169,491 535,332

10,696,045 1,695,179
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21 Financial risk management continued
Credit risk continued
During the current and prior period, the Group did not make provisions for expected credit losses.

All issued shares are fully paid. The Group considers its capital and reserves attributable to equity shareholders to be the Company’s capital. In managing its capital, the Company’s primary 
long-term objective is to provide a return for its shareholders through capital growth. Going forward the Group will seek to maintain a gearing ratio that balances risks and returns at an acceptable 
level and to maintain a sufficient funding base to enable the Group to meet its working capital needs.

The Group’s commercial activities are at an early stage and management considers that no useful target debt to equity gearing ratio can be identified at this time.

22 Trade and other payables 
2021 2020

£ £

Trade payables 487,294 228,729
Accruals 331,707 153,857
Social security and other taxation 117,659 197,884
Other payables 20,880 29,389

957,540 609,859

23 Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities include both licence obligations and lease obligations for right of use property as well as equipment under hire purchase agreement 

2021 2020
Maturity analysis of right of use property and equipment £ £

Within one year 234,699 206,850
In two to five years 647,715 735,798
In over five years 507,500 652,500

Total undiscounted liabilities 1,389,914 1,595,148
Future finance charges and other adjustments (388,996) (487,527)

Lease liabilities relating to right of use property and equipment in the financial statements 1,000,918 1,107,621

2021 2020
£ £

Current liabilities 147,453 106,316
Non-current liabilities 853,465 1,001,305

1,000,918 1,107,621

2021 2020
Amounts recognised in profit or loss include the following: £ £

Interest on lease liabilities 229,474 220,655

The value of the property leases is depreciated over the contractual life of the lease on a straight line basis.
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23 Lease liabilities continued
Liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments:

 @ fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable; and

 @ variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in the company, the lessee’s 
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar 
economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the company:

 @ where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party financing was 
received, and

 @ makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term and security.

The company is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments based on an index or rate, which are not included in the lease liability until they take effect, as well as to rate reviews. 
When adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability will be reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset. Lease payments are allocated between 
principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for 
each period.

Lease liabilities are secured upon the assets in which they relate to.

24 Licence liabilities
2021 2020

£ £

Current liabilities 676,191 500,401
Non-current liabilities 16,188,357 14,595,654

16,864,548 15,096,055

In respect of the above liabilities, £2,036,459 (2020 - £1,859,316) of licence interest recognised in the year has been capitalised within development costs. See note 13 for further detail.

The licence obligations include the net present value of the following payments:

 @ Fees payable by the company as part of entering into the licences; and

 @ Minimum royalty payments that are contractual and do not require product sales.

The payments are discounted using the weighted average cost of capital of the company.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in royalty payments based on the value of the product sales it makes that use the IP Rights that are the subject of the licences. The value of the IP 
Rights, as an intangible asset, is being amortised. Royalty payments that are above the minimum royalty payments will be recognised in the period in which the product income is recognised.

Licence obligation payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is initially charged to profit or loss over the licence period so as to produce a constant periodic rate 
of interest on the remaining balance of the licence obligation for each period.
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25 Provisions for liabilities
2021 2020

£ £

Dilapidations provision 209,082 208,309

All provisions are expected to be settled after more than 12 months from the reporting date.

Dilapidations provision
Movements on provisions: £

At 1 July 2020 208,309
Additional provisions in the year 773

At 30 June 2021 209,082

The dilapidations provision is recognised in respect of a property lease which is in place through to 2030. The provision was initially created in respect of an earlier lease and capitalised at present 
value as part of the cost of the underlying right of use asset, whilst the provision was fully unwound. The lease has subsequently been renewed. Due to the unwinding already being recognised, no 
additional adjustment has been included in respect of the discount or unwinding as the Directors do not consider this to be material.

26 Deferred revenue
2021 2020

£ £

Arising from government grants 2,328,246 1,926,655

Deferred revenues are classified based on the amounts that are expected to be settled within the next 12 months and after more than 12 months from the reporting date, as follows:

2021 2020
£ £

Current liabilities 28,564 28,564
Non-current liabilities 2,299,682 1,898,091

2,328,246 1,926,655

2021 2020
£ £

Balance at start of period 1,926,655 935,732
Additions 430,155 1,011,013
Income recognised in the period (28,564) (20,090)

Balance at end of period 2,328,246 1,926,655

Further explanation on the deferred grant income is given in note 4.
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27 Retirement benefit schemes
Defined contribution schemes
The group operates a defined contribution pension scheme for all qualifying employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the group in an independently administered fund.

The total costs charged to income in respect of defined contribution plans is £64,841 (2020 - £53,629).

At the year end, an amount of £28,664 (2020: £10,889) was held in social security and other taxation in respect of accrued unpaid pension contributions.

28 Share-based payment transactions
Number of share options Weighted average exercise price

2021 2020 2021 2020
£ £

Outstanding at 1 July 2020 1,678,005 735,254 0.64 0.57
Granted in the period 888,215 977,237 0.73 0.73
Forfeited in the period (80,685) (34,486) 0.29 0.63
Exercised in the period (578,780) — 0.78 —

Outstanding at 30 June 2021 1,906,755 1,678,005 0.67 0.64

Exercisable at 30 June 2021 1,906,775 — 0.67 —

The weighted average exercise price for share options exercised during the year was £0.78 (2020 - £0).

The options outstanding at 30 June 2021 had an exercise price ranging from £0.14 to £0.73, and a remaining contractual life of 6.5 years.

Warrants
Warrants have been granted to third parties as part of a fundraising round, with the exercise price set at the price of the round. The warrants were all vested as at the date of grant.

Number of share options Weighted average exercise price
2021 2020 2021 2020

£ £

Outstanding at 1 July 2020 95,037 95,037 0.63 0.63
Granted in the period 34,446 — 1.75 —

Outstanding at 30 June 2021 129,483 95,037 0.93 0.63

Exercisable at 30 June 2021 129,483 95,037 0.93 0.63

During 2021, options were granted on 15 November 2020 and 16 December 2020. The weighted average fair value of the options on the measurement date was £307,323.
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28 Share-based payment transactions continued
Warrants continued
Inputs were as follows:

2021 2020

Weighted average share price 0.73 0.73
Weighted average exercise price 0.73 0.73
Expected volatility 92.71% 92.71%
Expected life 4 4
Risk free rate 0.30% 0.25%

During 2021, warrants were granted on 9 March 2021. The weighted average fair value of the warrants on the measurement date was £36,928. Fair value was measured using Black-Scholes 
Option-pricing model.

Inputs were as follows:

2021 2020

Weighted average share price 1.75 —
Weighted average exercise price 1.75 —
Expected volatility 122.14% —
Expected life — —
Risk free rate 0.10% —
Expected dividends yields — —

During the year all share options in issue vested immediately as they contained exit clauses which were satisfied when the company successfully listed on the Alternative Investment Market. 
Expected volatility has been based on historic volatility for similar listed entities.

Expenses

Related to equity settled share based payments 979,387 65,606

In addition to the above expense recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, an amount of £36,928 was recognised in the share premium reserve relating to the warrants expense for 
the year.

29 Share capital
2021 2020 2021 2020

Ordinary share capital Number Number £ £

Authorised, issued and fully paid
Ordinary shares of 0.5p each 35,244,670 64,209 176,223 321
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29 Share capital continued
Reconciliation of movements during the year:

Number

At 1 July 2020 64,209
Issue of fully paid shares 7,405,503
Bonus issue 27,196,315
Exercise of share options 578,643

At 30 June 2021 35,244,670

On 3 August 2020 137 ordinary shares of 0.5p each were issued for a total cash consideration of £34,721; accordingly a premium of £34,720 has been recognised on this issue which represents 
cash proceeds received in excess of the nominal value of these shares. The issue also resulted in a transfer from the share option reserve to the share premium account of £20,946.

On 31 August 2020 2,146 ordinary shares of 0.5p each were issued for a total cash consideration of £630,388; accordingly a premium of £630,377 has been recognised on this issue which 
represents cash proceeds received in excess of the nominal value of these shares.

On 18 November 2020 782 ordinary shares of 0.5p each were issued for a total cash consideration of £229,713; accordingly a premium of £229,709 has been recognised on this issue which 
represents cash proceeds received in excess of the nominal value of these shares.

On 20 January 2021, the company transacted a bonus share issue whereby 400 ordinary shares of £0.005 each were issued per ordinary share held. As such, a sum of £134,548 has been reallocated 
from the share premium reserve. The rights attached to the bonus shares are identical to the ordinary shares.

On 12 March 2021 7,402,438 ordinary shares of 0.5p each were issued for a total cash consideration of £12,954,267; accordingly a premium of £12,917,255 has been recognised on this issue which 
represents cash proceeds received in excess of the nominal value of these shares.

On 5 May 2021 100,651 ordinary shares of 0.5p each were issued for a total cash consideration of £70,829; accordingly a premium of £70,326 has been recognised on this issue which represents 
cash proceeds received in excess of the nominal value of these shares. The issue also resulted in a transfer from the share option reserve to the share premium account of £44,754.

On 28 June 2021 477,992 ordinary shares of 0.5p each were issued for a total cash consideration of £345,686; accordingly a premium of £343,296 has been recognised on this issue which 
represents cash proceeds received in excess of the nominal value of these shares. The issue also resulted in a transfer from the share option reserve to the share premium account of £220,311.

30 Share premium account
2021 2020

£ £

At the beginning of the year 8,067,562 5,092,139
Issue of new shares 13,812,059 3,146,009
Bonus issue of shares (134,548) —
Share issue expenses (1,635,756) (170,586)
Exercise of share options 699,634 —

At the end of the year 20,808,951 8,067,562
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30 Share premium account continued
During the year the following transactions occurred:

 @ On 20 January 2021 the Company issued bonus shares to all existing shareholders, in a ratio of 400 Ordinary shares for each Ordinary share already in issue. The nominal value of the shares were 
credited up as fully paid using existing amounts held in the share premium.

 @ A number of share options were exercised, resulting in a credit to share premium of £699,633. This reflected the fair value determined at grant date of the options now exercised, which had 
previously been held within the share option reserve.

 @ On 12 March 2021 the Company was admitted to the Alternative Investment Market (“AIM”). As part of this the Company issued new shares with premium of £12,917,255, and incurred costs of 
obtaining this admission and raising the funds of £1,598,831, which have been set against the premium raised on admission.

31 Related party transactions
Remuneration of key management personnel
The remuneration of key management personnel, including directors, is set out below in aggregate for each of the categories specified in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures.

2021 2020
£ £

Salary and short-term employee benefits 672,653 720,027
Share-based payments 603,376 18,291

1,276,029 738,318

Included in the above is an amount of £38,667 relating to directors remuneration settled on behalf of the group by a related party.

Other transactions with related parties
There were no transactions with related parties for the period. Transactions with MEP Technologies Limited were at market prices as part of the ordinary course of business of the two groups.

32 Transition adjustments
Reconciliation of equity

At 01 April 2019 At 30 June 2020
Previously
 reported

Prior year
 adjustment

Effect 
of transition As restated

Previously
 reported

Prior year
 adjustment

Effect 
of transition As restated

Notes £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
Fixed assets
Other intangibles 5 1,287,810 1,776,445 — 3,064,255 2,993,066 15,068,073 — 18,061,139
Property, plant and equipment 1 1,310,370 (617) 144,773 1,454,526 1,341,871 100 969,831 2,311,802
Investments — — — 2 — — 2

2,598,180 1,775,828 144,773 4,518,781 4,334,939 15,068,173 969,831 20,372,943
Current assets
Inventories 22,916 — — 22,916 219,133 — — 219,133
Finance lease receivables — — 59,553 59,553 — — — —
Trade and other receivables - other 2 854,971 (53,368) — 801,603 1,043,120 (57,457) 9,873 995,536
Bank and cash 381,856 — — 381,856 949,569 — — 949,569

1,259,743 (53,368) 59,553 1,265,928 2,211,822 (57,457) 9,873 2,164,238
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32 Transition adjustments continued
Reconciliation of equity continued

At 01 April 2019 At 30 June 2020
Previously
 reported

Prior year
 adjustment

Effect 
of transition As restated

Previously
 reported

Prior year
 adjustment

Effect 
of transition As restated

Notes £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Creditors due within one year
Borrowings (9,624) — — (9,624) (20,350) — — (20,350)
Lease liabilities 5 — (149,118) — (149,118) (43,225) — (63,091) (106,316)
Licence liabilities 5 — (49,789) — (49,789) — (500,401) — (500,401)
Derivatives 6 — — — — — (359) — (359)
Other payables 2 (273,654) — — (273,654) (614,774) 4,915 — (609,859)
Deferred income 2 — (20,090) — (20,090) — (28,564) — (28,564)

(283,278) (218,997) — (502,275) (678,349) (524,409) (63,091) (1,265,849)

Net current assets 976,465 (272,365) 59,553 763,653 1,533,473 (581,866) (53,218) 898,389

Total assets less current liabilities 3,574,645 1,503,463 204,326 5,282,434 5,868,412 14,486,307 916,613 21,271,332

Creditors due after one year
Borrowings (33,345) — 2,809 (30,536) (105,089) — — (105,089)
Lease liabilities 5 (83,558) 149,118 (130,111) (64,551) (115,798) (1) (885,506) (1,001,305)
Licence liabilities 5 — (1,785,134) — (1,785,134) — (14,595,654) — (14,595,654)
Long term provisions — — (182,983) (182,983) — — (208,309) (208,309)
Deferred income 2 (792,738) (122,904) — (915,642) (1,949,300) 51,209 — (1,898,091)

(909,641) (1,758,920) (310,285) (2,978,846) (2,170,187) (14,544,446) (1,093,815) (17,808,448)

Net assets 2,665,004 (255,457) (105,959) 2,303,588 3,698,225 (58,139) (177,202) 3,462,884
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32 Transition adjustments continued
Reconciliation of equity continued

At 01 April 2019 At 30 June 2020
Previously
 reported

Prior year
 adjustment

Effect 
of transition As restated

Previously
 reported

Prior year
 adjustment

Effect 
of transition As restated

Notes £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Equity
Share capital 268 — — 268 321 — — 321
Share premium 4 5,068,165 23,974 — 5,092,139 8,209,240 (141,678) — 8,067,562
Revaluation reserve 3 309,820 (309,820) — — 309,820 (309,820) — —
Share-based payment reserve 4 — 62,446 — 62,446 — 128,052 — 128,052
Profit and loss 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 (2,713,249) (32,057) (105,959) (2,851,265) (4,821,156) 265,307 (177,202) (4,733,051)

Total equity 2,665,004 (255,457) (105,959) 2,303,588 3,698,225 (58,139) (177,202) 3,462,884

Reconciliation of loss for the financial period
Year ended 30 June 2020

Previously reported Prior year adjustment Effect of transition As restated
Notes £ £ £ £

Turnover 2 1,111,461 153,394 — 1,264,855
Cost of sales 4, 5 (606,842) (624,501) — (1,231,343)

Gross profit 504,619 (471,107) — 33,512
Other operating income 2 296,850 158,282 (62,251) 392,881
Administrative expenses 4 (3,283,428) 943,377 34,600 (2,305,451)

Operating profit (2,481,959) 630,552 (27,651) (1,879,058)
Interest receivable and similar income 4,573 — 12,168 16,741
Finance costs 5, 6 (29,961) (155,837) (55,942) (241,740)

Loss before taxation (2,507,347) 474,715 (71,425) (2,104,057)
Taxation 399,441 (177,170) — 222,271

Loss for the financial period (2,107,906) 297,545 (71,425) (1,881,786)

Notes to reconciliations
1 Change to depreciation policy to better reflect the expected economic life of assets.

2 Adjustments to the recognition of government grants as part of the capitalisation of intangible assets, where those assets have been constructed using the benefits derived from government grants.

3 Correction to value of revaluation reserve previously carried.

4 First time recognition of the value of share-based payments, and associated impact on the share-based payment reserve.

5 Capitalisation of development costs and inception of IP licence, together with associated liability.

6 Recognition of fair value derivative previously omitted from the financial statements.

The prior year statutory financial statements were unaudited, and the prior year adjustments presented above were identified as part of the transition to IFRS.
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33 Intangible assets
Patents & licences Development costs Total

Company £ £ £

Cost
At 30 June 2020 1,847,964 5,058,805 6,906,769
Additions - internally generated — 3,063,529 3,063,529
Additions - other 328,858 — 328,858

At 30 June 2021 2,176,822 8,122,334 10,299,156

Amortisation and impairment
At 30 June 2020 549,989 — 549,989
Charge for the year 272,558 — 272,558

At 30 June 2021 822,547 — 822,547

Carrying amount
At 30 June 2021 1,354,275 8,122,334 9,476,609

At 30 June 2020 1,297,975 5,058,805 6,356,780

34 Property, plant and equipment
Leasehold

 improvements
Fixtures 

and fittings
Plant 

and equipment
Right of use 

asset - Dilapidations
Right of use 

asset - Buildings
Right of use 

asset - equipment Total
Company £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Cost
At 30 June 2020 34,953 30,525 1,101,757 153,169 885,002 176,620 2,382,026
Additions — — 252,174 — — — 252,174
Transfers between classes 12,760 — (12,760) — — — —

At 30 June 2021 47,713 30,525 1,341,171 153,169 885,002 176,620 2,634,200

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 30 June 2020 — — 1,884 153,169 29,500 — 184,553
Charge for the year 4,958 2,673 146,019 — 88,500 33,506 275,656
Transfers between classes 3,568 — (3,568) — — — —

At 30 June 2021 8,526 2,673 144,335 153,169 118,000 33,506 460,209

Carrying amount
At 30 June 2021 39,187 27,852 1,196,836 — 767,002 143,114 2,173,991

At 30 June 2020 34,953 30,525 1,099,873 — 855,502 176,620 2,197,473
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35 Investments
Non-current

2021 2020
Company £ £

Investments in subsidiaries 3,044,074 3,044,074
Other investments 23,626 2

3,067,700 3,044,076

Fair value of financial assets carried at amortised cost
Except as detailed below the directors believe that the carrying amounts of financial assets carried at amortised cost in the financial statements approximate to their fair values.

Investment in subsidiary undertakings
Details of the company’s principal operating subsidiaries are included in note 16.

Movements in non-current investments
Shares in subsidiaries Other investments Total

£ £ £

Cost or valuation
At 1 July 2020 3,044,074 2 3,044,076
Valuation changes — 23,624 23,624

At 30 June 2021 3,044,074 23,626 3,067,700

Carrying amount
At 30 June 2021 3,044,074 23,626 3,067,700

At 30 June 2020 3,044,074 2 3,044,076

Investments represent a 19.5% investment in the Ordinary share capital of MEP Technologies Limited, a company incorporated in Scotland.

In accordance with IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, the Company has designated this investment at fair value through profit and loss. As the company is small, unlisted, and has been active for only a 
short period, there is no readily available observable market value in accordance with IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’. As such the Directors have recognised a fair value movement calculated in 
accordance with equity accounting rules, which would have applied had the Company owned 20% or more of MEP Technologies Limited. The Directors do not believe that this gives rise to a 
significantly different outcome to fair value.
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36 Inventories
2021 2020

Company £ £

Raw materials and work in progress 280,666 219,133

37 Trade and other receivables
2021 2020

Company £ £

Trade receivables 252,138 78,567
VAT recoverable 81,050 58,625
Other receivables 1,169,491 60,081
Prepayments 266,952 190,910

1,769,631 388,183

38 Borrowings
Current Non-current

2021 2020 2021 2020
Company £ £ £ £

Borrowings held at amortised cost:
Other loans 20,365 20,350 75,636 105,089

39 Trade and other payables 
2021 2020

Company £ £

Trade payables 480,509 36,357
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 3,435,665 1,439,124
Accruals 278,302 102,661
Social security and other taxation 117,659 69,896
Other payables 20,880 21,903

4,333,015 1,669,941

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings carry no interest charges and have no fixed date of repayment.
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40 Lease liabilities
2021 2020

Maturity analysis £ £

Within one year 186,574 151,850
In two to five years 647,715 687,673
In over five years 507,500 652,500

Total undiscounted liabilities 1,341,789 1,492,023
Future finance charges and other adjustments (386,964) (479,003)

Lease liabilities in the financial statements 954,825 1,013,020

2021 2020
£ £

Current liabilities 101,360 57,808
Non-current liabilities 853,465 955,212

954,825 1,013,020

41 Licence liabilities
2021 2020

£ £

Current liabilities 293,192 276,789
Non-current liabilities 1,495,656 1,444,808

1,788,848 1,721,597

The fair value of the company’s lease obligations is approximately equal to their carrying amount.

42 Provisions for liabilities
2021 2020

Company £ £

Dilapidations provision 200,000 200,000

All provisions are expected to be settled after more than 12 months from the reporting date.

Movements on provisions: £

At 1 July 2020 and 30 June 2021 200,000

The dilapidations provision is recognised in respect of a property lease which is in place through to 2030. The provision was initially created in respect of an earlier lease and capitalised at present 
value as part of the cost of the underlying right of use asset, whilst the provision was fully unwound. The lease has subsequently been renewed. Due to the unwinding already being recognised, no 
additional adjustment has been included in respect of the discount or unwinding as the Directors do not consider this to be material.
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43 Deferred revenue
2021 2020

Company £ £

Arising from government grants 2,328,246 1,763,300

Deferred revenues are classified based on the amounts that are expected to be settled within the next 12 months and after more than 12 months from the reporting date, as follows:

2021 2020
£ £

Current liabilities 28,564 —
Non-current liabilities 2,299,682 1,763,300

2,328,246 1,763,300

44 Transition adjustments - Company
Reconciliation of equity

At 01 April 2019 At 30 June 2020
Previously
 reported

Prior year
 adjustment

Effect 
of transition As restated

Previously
 reported

Prior year
 adjustment

Effect 
of transition As restated

Notes £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Fixed assets
Other intangibles 5 — 1,831,445 — 1,831,445 2,993,066 3,363,714 — 6,356,780
Property, plant and equipment 1 3,068 73 — 3,141 1,341,871 100 855,502 2,197,473
Investments 3,044,073 — — 3,044,073 3,044,076 — — 3,044,076

3,047,141 1,831,518 — 4,878,659 7,379,013 3,363,814 855,502 11,598,329

Current assets
Inventories — — — — 219,133 — — 219,133
Trade and other receivables 2 1,207,258 — — 1,207,258 756,609 (368,426) — 388,183
Bank and cash 175,326 — — 175,326 813,109 — — 813,109

1,382,584 — — 1,382,584 1,788,851 (368,426) — 1,420,425
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44 Transition adjustments - Company continued
Reconciliation of equity continued

At 01 April 2019 At 30 June 2020
Previously
 reported

Prior year
 adjustment

Effect 
of transition As restated

Previously
 reported

Prior year
 adjustment

Effect 
of transition As restated

Notes £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Creditors due within one year
Borrowings — — — — (20,350) — — (20,350)
Lease liabilities 5 — — — — (43,225) (14,583) (57,808)
Licence liabilities 5 — (49,789) — (49,789) — (276,789) — (276,789)
Derivatives 6 — — — — — (173) — (173)
Other payables 2 (73,744) — — (73,744) (235,730) (1,512,488) 78,277 (1,669,941)

(73,744) (49,789) — (123,533) (299,305) (1,789,450) 63,694 (2,025,061)

Net current assets/(liabilities) 1,308,840 (49,789) — 1,259,051 1,489,546 (2,157,876) 63,694 (604,636)

Total assets less current liabilities 4,355,981 1,781,729 — 6,137,710 8,868,559 1,205,938 919,196 10,993,693

Creditors due after one year
Borrowings — — — — (105,089) — — (105,089)
Lease liabilities 5 — — — — (115,798) — (839,414) (955,212)
Licence liabilities 5 — (1,785,134) — (1,785,134) — (1,444,808) — (1,444,808)
Long term provisions — — — — — — (200,000) (200,000)
Deferred income 2 — — — — (1,949,300) 186,000 — (1,763,300)

— (1,785,134) — (1,785,134) (2,170,187) (1,258,808) (1,039,414) (4,468,409)

Net assets 4,355,981 (3,405) — 4,352,576 6,698,372 (52,870) (120,218) 6,525,284
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44 Transition adjustments - Company continued
Reconciliation of equity continued

At 01 April 2019 At 30 June 2020
Previously
 reported

Prior year
 adjustment

Effect 
of transition As restated

Previously
 reported

Prior year
 adjustment

Effect 
of transition As restated

Notes £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Equity
Share capital 268 — — 268 321 — — 321
Share premium 4 5,068,164 23,975 — 5,092,139 8,209,240 (141,678) — 8,067,562
Revaluation reserve 3 — — — — 309,820 (309,820) — —
Share-based payment reserve 4 — 62,446 — 62,446 — 128,052 — 128,052
Profit and loss 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 (712,451) (89,826) — (802,277) (1,821,009) 270,576 (120,218) (1,670,651)

Total equity 4,355,981 (3,405) — 4,352,576 6,698,372 (52,870) (120,218) 6,525,284

Reconciliation of loss for the financial period
Year ended 30 June 2020

Previously reported Prior year adjustment Effect of transition As restated
Notes £ £ £ £

Turnover 211,100 — — 211,100
Cost of sales 4 (595,956) 339,024 — (256,932)

Gross profit (384,856) 339,024 — (45,832)
Administrative expenses 4 (757,799) 204,238 (80,556) (634,117)
Other operating income 2 29,524 (27,024) — 2,500

Operating profit (1,113,131) 516,238 (80,556) (677,449)
Interest receivable and similar income 4,573 — 2,697 7,270
Finance costs 5 — (155,837) (42,358) (198,195)

Loss before taxation (1,108,558) 360,401 (120,217) (868,374)
Taxation — — — —

Loss for the financial period (1,108,558) 360,401 (120,217) (868,374)

Notes to reconciliations
1 Change to depreciation policy to better reflect the expected economic life of assets.

2 Adjustments to the recognition of government grants as part of the capitalisation of intangible assets, where those assets have been constructed using the benefits derived from government grants.

3 Correction to value of revaluation reserve previously carried.

4 First time recognition of the value of share-based payments, and associated impact on the share-based payment reserve.

5 Capitalisation of development costs and inception of IP licence, together with associated liability.

6 Recognition of fair value derivative previously omitted from the financial statements.

The prior year statutory financial statements were unaudited and the prior year adjustments presented above were identified as part of the transition to IFRS.
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